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Tuesday, July 8, 2014

--- On commencing at 9:30 a.m.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, everyone.  I think we will get started.

This is the third technical conference for the OPG payments case.  It relates specifically to recent updates that were filed with respect to the Darlington refurbishment project.

We have a busy schedule today, so I propose we get right into it.  Mr. Keizer, I understand you have a couple of questions for your witness panel, but maybe you could introduce them and we will get started.
ONTARIO POWER GENERATION - PANEL 8


Eric Gould


Dietmar Reiner

Gary Rose

MR. KEIZER:  Thanks, Mr. Millar, yes, I have some questions I'm going to go through, give a bit more context, and then hopefully it will be helpful for people today as part of the technical conference.

So maybe I could ask the panel members to introduce themselves and identify their names and their title and what their corporate -- or company that they represent, so starting first with you, Mr. Gould, at the end.

MR. GOULD:  My name is Eric Gould.  I am a partner with Modus Strategic Solutions Inc.  We are based in Chicago, Illinois, with affiliation -- affiliated company in Canada.

MR. REINER:  My name is Dietmar Reiner.  I'm senior vice-president of nuclear projects with Ontario Power Generation.

MR. ROSE:  Good morning, my name is Gary Rose.  I'm the director of project planning and project controls for the Darlington refurbishment program at OPG.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you, gentlemen.

So if I could just, with everyone's indulgence, just take the panel through a series of questions, and hopefully won't take too long, because I know we do have a busy day, but I think some of this will hopefully provide more context to things.
Questions by Mr. Keizer:


So if I could -- if I could ask you, Mr. Gould, could you provide a brief background of Modus and Burns & McDonnell, because they are both identified as part of the report, and describe the relationship between Modus and Burns & McDonnell and how they work together on the OPG mandate that you have.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Excuse me, I am sorry, I am not used to direct evidence in a technical conference.  This doesn't seem to be appropriate.  I have questions about this.  We can get to this.  They have filed their evidence.  We are entitled to ask questions about it.

MR. KEIZER:  If that was a hearing, it would be fine, but I've understood traditionally a technical conference wasn't a hearing, it was actually to help understand the evidence and help parties understand as it goes forward, deal with the issues that ultimately would go to hearing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's actually to give us an opportunity to ask questions of your witnesses to give you --


MR. KEIZER:  Well, if I wanted to give you --


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Keizer, how long will you be with your --


MR. KEIZER:  -- and ask questions of your witnesses.

MR. MILLAR:  How long will this be?

MR. KEIZER:  I'd be 15, 20 minutes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't agree.  I think it's inappropriate.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I guess that's unfortunate.  I am going to ask the questions and they can answer them.  If I had a PowerPoint presentation to do for people before the technical conference it would be no different.

MR. MILLAR:  Why don't you just go ahead, Mr. Keizer, and then we can get to the questions.

MR. KEIZER:  So please continue, Mr. Gould.

MR. GOULD:  So first with respect to our partner, Burns & McDonnell, Burns & McDonnell is a 115-year-old multi-discipline engineering firm.  They are highly rated in their energy practice.  They are rated the top ten in North America, over 3,500 employees, over a billion dollars a year in project billings.

Modus Strategic Solutions is my company, which I formed with my partner, Carrie Okizaki, three-and-a-half years ago.  We specialize in project oversight.  We have deep experience in project oversight and providing analysis to boards of directors, to senior management, and to senior project management on large capital projects, and between Burns & McDonnell and Modus we have developed a team that has literally decades, centuries, of experience in large capital projects of the nature of the Darlington refurbishment.

MR. KEIZER:  And Mr. Gould, what was your role in preparing the Modus reports?

MR. GOULD:  I am the primary author.  I am the team leader for the team.

MR. KEIZER:  And what is the scope of the mandate that Modus and Burns & McDonnell has?

MR. GOULD:  We report directly to the nuclear oversight committee of Ontario Power Generation's board of directors, and on a quarterly basis, timed with each of the nuclear oversight committee meetings, we prepare a report, and we submit that report along with verbal comments in the meetings themselves.

MR. KEIZER:  And Mr. Reiner, how do OPG management and Modus interact?

MR. REINER:  So the -- in our evidence in D-2-2-1 there was an attachment to that evidence, attachment 4-11, which is entitled "Darlington refurbishment program assurance plan", and in that attachment you will see a diagram on page 7 of 28 that gives a layout of the model on the relationships and interactions between Modus and the OPG project structure.

We -- Mr. Gould identified his scope of work and his mandate.  Following each discussion with the board of directors that Modus have, where they review their observations and findings and recommendations, the project management team sits with Modus.  We go through each of the observations and recommendations, ensure there is a common understanding of what the findings actually identify.  Then we identify the relevant gaps that those findings highlight and actions that need to be taken to close those gaps.

All of that is documented.  We have a database where that information gets documented, owners get assigned, and then the actions get implemented on the project and deployed across the project.

MR. KEIZER:  So it's obviously -- one of the major parts of discussion is the campus plan projects.  Can you just briefly, Mr. Reiner, just -- how you would characterize the campus plan projects relative to the Darlington refurbishment projects as a whole.

MR. REINER:  The campus plan projects are largely facilities and infrastructure projects, and they are twofold.  They are either facilities that are required to specifically support the refurbishment project or they are facilities that are needed by the station for continued operations of the Darlington station.

And there is a long list of campus plan projects.  I will quickly go through that list.  The Darlington energy complex is amongst that.  That's where we have the mock-up and the project team house.  There is an operations support building, refurbishment, retube and feeder replacement, island support annex, a refurbishment project office vehicle screening facility.  We are making improvements to the Holt Road interchange at the 401.  There is an electrical-powered distribution project for the Darlington site, an auxiliary heating system.  There is also a water and sewer project, a heavy-water storage and drum-handling facility project, and a retube waste processing building.

Now, there a number of other projects that we sometimes include when we talk about the campus plan portfolio.  Those are specifically safety improvements.  They are tied to the environmental assessment.  The reason we link them together sometimes is they are prerequisites that need to be executed before we can start refurbishment, and they include projects like the third emergency power generator, containment filter venting system, powerhouse venting system, shale tank over pressure protection, fire water, and emergency cooling, and retube waste processing building, used-fuel dry storage building, and also modifications we need to make to shut the units down and put them into a lay-up state.

So the projects range in sort of across a variety of complexities.  They are also in various stages of construction as we speak, some with steel being erected, others with excavation work just beginning, and some of them, the D2O storage building, for example, is amongst probably the most complex modifications that we will actually make during the refurbishment of Darlington.

If I put that sort of beside the refurbishment project itself, the refurbishment project fits into kind of five key project bundles.  We have got the retube and feeder replacement work, the turbine generator work, the steam generator work, the balance of plant, which is sort of the valves, pipes, electrical modifications, and then fuel-handling work, which is a combination of de-fuelling and fuel handling systems refurbishment work, so that's how campus plan fits into the portfolio.

MR. KEIZER:  And with respect to the campus plan, there are three projects that are discussed in particular in the Modus reports, the heavy water storage, which is often referred to as the D2O storage and auxiliary heating AHS and water and sewer.


Just so people understand what those projects are, can you just briefly describe what each of those projects are?


MR. REINER:  The D2O storage facility project, it serves a couple of purposes.


It provides storage capacity for the heavy water that's going to be removed from the refurbishment units.  So that's the moderator and heat transport water.


The storage capacity it provides to the project is for two units.  If you recall, our scheduled for refurbishment has overlapping units and we will have two units shut down simultaneously at some point in the project.


It also integrates with the Darlington tritium removal facility, to allow the Darlington site to manage the tritium emissions and tritium levels and dose levels to workers as part of ongoing operations.


The auxiliary heating system project is essentially a replacement for an old boiler house that is at the site.  It's required in order to protect station systems in the event that there is a power outage and loss of electricity and heating in the power plant on a cold winter day.  And so it's intended to protect the plant systems from damage due to freezing.


The water and sewer project, that essentially replaces an on-site sewage treatment facility with connections to municipal sewer systems, and it also provides a municipal water supply and a fire water supply to the power plant.


MR. KEIZER:  And finally, how did the cost variations of the individual projects affect the overall Darlington refurbishment project cost envelope? 


MR. REINER:  The Darlington project cost envelope, our estimate continues to remain.  We are very confident that the project will cost less than $10 billion.  These projects fit within that project estimate, and the cost variances that we are talking about amount to about 2 to 3 percent of that total project cost.


MR. KEIZER:  Thank you, Mr. Reiner.


That is just the questions I had which I thought would be helpful to lay out some context.  Before we make the panel available, I guess there is a couple of things.  One, there is a lot of confidential information that has been redacted and obviously still subject to submissions, but for purposes of this proceeding, my understanding, we'll be treating that as confidential.  And I think that that's in agreement with everybody here.


So I am assuming that -- I know on the roster sheet for people asking questions, we have got a public and a confidential, in camera part.  I am assuming the in camera will be at the end; is that your plan, Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  I think so.  There are some scheduling issues, so we'll --


MR. SHEPHERD:  No.


MR. KEIZER:  How do you want to do it, Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I thought we had already agreed that the confidential will be in the middle, so that, for example, David can leave before everybody is finished.


MR. KEIZER:  We weren't party to those so that is why I was inquiring.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Shepherd will take us to at least the break with his public version so why don't we –- we'll finalize the arrangements over the break.


MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, I wasn't aware of that, so I was just trying to clarify the record.


And I guess also along that aspect, we understand this to be a technical conference and we understand that this is part of clarifying the record, and within the similar vein of other technical conferences it's part of clarification but not cross-examination.  My assumption is that is something that's left for next week when the Panel is here.   So I would hope that parties would be reflecting that in their questions.


MR. POCH:  Can we assume you will have the same witnesses available for cross next week? 


MR. KEIZER:  Yes.


MR. POCH:  Just on the question of sequencing today, I can be here in the morning.  So thank you, Jay, for your concern, but I was just going to suggest that we leave it for now.  When we get to the candid matters, it may be -- I am thinking of the convenience of other parties who have to leave for that portion.  If it's towards the end of the day, that might be easier for everyone.


MR. MILLAR:  We will sort that out on the break.


MR. KEIZER:  We are obviously here, so we will work with parties to do it and be as efficient as possible.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Shepherd, are you ready to begin?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am.

Questions by Mr. Shepherd:

So I have some questions.  Almost all of my questions are for you, Mr. Gould, and so I am directing them to you, and I would -- I will have a few questions of the OPG witnesses, but mostly it's for you because it's your report that we are talking about.


Mr. Gould, I looked a little bit at your background.  Modus has been around for three years now?


MR. GOULD:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It was founded by you and by Ms. Okizaki, who is a lawyer, right?  In fact, she is still a practising lawyer?


MR. GOULD:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So she has a law firm, Aperio (ph) that Modus is -- basically does litigation support for in construction law matters; is that right? 


MR. GOULD:  We have a range of different clients.  Aperio has not been active in any matter since we have started our company.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And your training is -- I noted you have a bachelor of general studies.  That's in history and eastern European studies, right?


MR. GOULD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are not an engineer?


MR. GOULD:  I am not.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you've spent 25 years in law firms in their construction law group as a paralegal, right?


MR. GOULD:  Well, I began my career as a paralegal, but I had, prior to starting Modus, worked for law firms, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so what you did there is, I guess -- tell me whether this is right -- basically litigation support or negotiation support in contract situations, right?


MR. GOULD:  No, sir.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Sorry, that is what the website said.  I just thought that is what it meant.  Why don't you describe, then, what you did?


MR. GOULD:  That is part of my background, doing some litigation support.  That's true.  However, for the last --since the mid-1990s, including working within the context of the law firm where I was previously employed, we had a consulting practice.  That was an adjunct practice that dealt specifically with project oversight, project controls, identifying issues on large capital projects.  So for the last over 20 years, that's primarily what I have been doing.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you -- you said you worked on the Pickering -- what is it?  The restart? 


MR. GOULD:  I was part of the oversight team that came in in 2003, March of 2003, to first evaluate the root cause of what went wrong on Pickering Unit 4 RTS -- return to service -- and then our team then functioned in an oversight capacity all the way through the return to service of Pickering A Unit 1.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you are leading the team now, right? 


MR. GOULD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you weren't leading that team?


MR. GOULD:  I was -- I was, in essence, leading the team that was on the ground, but I reported directly to a senior partner at my old firm.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that was a lawyer; was that Mr. -- what was the name, Kleinfelder?


MR. GOULD:  No, sir.  Kenneth Roberts.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Kenneth Roberts?  Okay.


So it was Schiff Hardin, in fact, that was retained to work on that, on the oversight for that root cause analysis, right?


MR. GOULD:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And that's a law firm? 


MR. GOULD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And was that because there was an expectation of litigation, or was that simply because you had a particular expertise in construction projects?


MR. GOULD:  It was to perform the services that we performed.  There was no expectation, as far as I know, of any litigation; we were not hired in that capacity.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. GOULD:  To the extent that I know.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You -- I am looking first at your May 13th report.  It's entitled "Second quarter 2014 report to nuclear oversight committee."  This is -- it's one of the attachments to your June report, I think.


Do you have that? 


MR. GOULD:  Yes, sir.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And by the way, what I am going to do is I am going to go through my questions, but I –- thank you, OPG, for marking the confidential version with what's confidential.  So I will leave those questions until later, but what I would like you to do is, if it sounds like I am going into an area that is confidential, jump up and down and yell and scream before I get too far, please.

MR. REINER:  Sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because I can't afford $10,000.

So you are the primary author of this report, right, Mr. Gould?

MR. GOULD:  Yes, sir.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Who else is on your team?

MR. GOULD:  We have a core of six -- a core group of six members, as well as a number of subject-matter experts that contribute depending on the need for the particular subject of the investigation or the issue that we are looking at.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you tell me who they are?

MR. GOULD:  I can.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Who are the six people?

MR. GOULD:  Myself, Ms. Okizaki; Geoffrey Thomas, who is an engineer from -- registered engineer from Burns & McDonnell; William "Duke" Bell, who is a project control specialist from Burns & McDonnell; Mark Cira, who is a CPA.  He works directly for Modus.  And Ned Markey, who also works for Modus in a support capacity.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So Mr. Thomas is an engineer and Mr. Duke Bell is an engineer.

MR. GOULD:  I'm sorry?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Thomas is an engineer?

MR. GOULD:  Mr. Thomas is an engineer.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And who else is an engineer?

MR. GOULD:  And I am sorry, I forgot Patrick Guevel, who is also an engineer with Burns & McDonnell.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Excellent, excellent.  And so this report from May 13th, how much was OPG involved in writing or editing this?  Did they make any suggests as to the wording, for example, or what should be included in it?

MR. GOULD:  No, they did not make specific recommendations or wording choices, but perhaps I should describe the process that is actually in our contract that we go through.  So --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Just before you get to that, can we see your contract, please?

MR. GOULD:  I don't have it with me.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could undertake to provide it.

MR. KEIZER:  Subject, I guess, to any confidential matters that may be in the contract.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood, understood.

MR. MILLAR:  So that will be Undertaking JT3.1. 
UNDERTAKING NO. JT3.1:  TO PROVIDE MR. GOULD's CONTRACT.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, go ahead.

MR. GOULD:  So our primary report is to the nuclear oversight committee, as I described earlier.  In 
addition --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me just stop you.  It's easier for me if I stop you along the way.  I'm sorry.  The nuclear oversight committee is a committee of the board of directors of OPG; right?

MR. GOULD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's, what, six or seven people?

MR. GOULD:  It has varied in size.  Currently it is four members of the board.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Four.

MR. REINER:  Five.

MR. GOULD:  Excuse me, five.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Do you report to them directly?  That is, do you actually stand before them and say, Here is our information, and they ask you questions?

MR. GOULD:  Yes, sir.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  When did you last report to them?

MR. GOULD:  June 26th of 2014.

MR. SHEPHERD:  June 26th.  Okay.  Sorry, go on.  You report to the nuclear oversight committee.  Go on.

MR. GOULD:  So as an expectation of our role, we also work in the field.  We are embedded within the team.  We office at the Darlington energy complex that Mr. Reiner described earlier, have frequent contacts with Mr. Reiner, Mr. Rose, and the rest of the OPG team.

It's the expectation that our oversight is to be on the spot in the minute if we provide recommendations, as Mr. Reiner described.  Those are discussed and well-vetted.

So as part of our process we have what is referred to as a dotted line to Mr. Reiner, and as well to when Mr. Robinson was at OPG, and Mr. Sweetnam was at OPG, we had a line to them as well.  And the understanding is that all the information that we are preparing for our reports and all the reports that we prepare for the nuclear oversight committee are discussed with them in advance.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And does that mean that you sometimes modify those reports as a result of those discussions?

MR. GOULD:  To the extent that they may identify that there are certain facts or statements that they disagree with, we will go back and look to verify whether we agree with their disagreement, and we may make some changes as a result of that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  A lot of the things that -- this is for you, Mr. Reiner, I think.  Mr. Reiner, are you the head of the Darlington refurbishment team?

MR. REINER:  Yes, I am sort of serving two capacities at the moment.  There was a recent change in our organization, so I am the head of nuclear projects and the head of the Darlington refurbishment team.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You are busy.

MR. REINER:  Sorry?

MR. SHEPHERD:  You are busy.

MR. REINER:  I am busy, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that means the project and modifica -- sorry, projects and modifications also now reports to you, right?

MR. REINER:  They now report to me as well, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Was that the purpose of that is to get them under the same wing as Darlington refurbishment team?

MR. REINER:  Darlington refurbishment and projects and modifications always did report under nuclear projects, previously Bill Robinson.  Bill departed just a short while ago, and so we are just in process of making some adjustments to the organization --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Robson is the person who retired and came back?

MR. REINER:  Mr. Robinson retired and came back and retired again.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Okay.  And the things that Mr. Gould is doing, this sort of review and oversight, you are doing it too; right?

MR. REINER:  We are, absolutely.  There are -- so there are multiple levels of oversight that the project team provides and that I provide.  Some of it is very direct interaction with the contractor, so it's people in the field, on the ground that are integrated with the contractor's team.  Some of it is quality-related oversight in engineering, for example, ensuring that all of the quality requirements are satisfied --


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is like standard management sort of stuff.

MR. REINER:  Standard management sort of stuff.

And then we also have a corrective action program that, you know, in addition to what we do through external oversight, we have an internal corrective action program and a variety of self-assessments and peer reviews that also provide oversight that are part of our model.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I see a number -- in these reports I see a number of places in which there is a reference to Burns & McDonnell and Modus doing something and in parallel the DR team doing the same thing, and that's fairly common throughout this, right, because they are sort of -- they are a little bit replicating what you are doing; right?

MR. REINER:  No, it isn't replication.  So the DR team manages the Darlington refurbishment project.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. REINER:  Modus do not manage the project.  Modus will do deep dives into specific subjects.  They will sit side by side with the Darlington refurbishment team in doing that work, but then they will provide observations and recommendations on how the project is being managed.

So they will look at similar information, but it is two separate sets of activities.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What I am trying to get at, and what I'm trying to get a picture of is, they are not like auditors.  Auditors just watch, and they are, like, hovering, but they don't actually talk to you.  They are not like that.  They are sitting in your meetings.  They are making suggestions when they think something is worthwhile, right?

MR. REINER:  They were not hired as auditors.  They do from time to time provide audit-type services, which are precisely as you describe.  But their purpose is to help the project and to strengthen the project by highlighting areas where there might be potential gaps that based on their experience they believe ought to be addressed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Gould mentions in one of his reports -- uses the term "audit fatigue" to talk about the DR team.  I take it that they are not the only people auditing you.  You've got all sorts of people auditing you.

MR. REINER:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you tell us more about that?

MR. REINER:  So there is -- so we have an internal audit organization in OPG that provides audits.  We also have a nuclear oversight organization that's part of the nuclear business that also provide audits into specific areas.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, the nuclear oversight organization is different from the nuclear oversight committee.

MR. REINER:  Yes, that is different.  Yes.  So --


MR. SHEPHERD:  How?

MR. REINER:  So they are essentially a quality-assurance type function that assess how, for example, more on the technical line of the business.  So they will look at, for example, things like there is a pressure boundary set of regulations that we need to adhere to.  They will come in and they'll do an audit to see how work is being conducted, and does it satisfy the pressure boundary requirements.

That is what nuclear oversight does.  They are part of the Nuclear Operations organization.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So they are a requirement from the Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission, right? 

MR. REINER:  That's correct, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I understand.  All right.  Okay.  So back to you, Mr. Gould. 

So in this report -- is it fair to say this is a pretty critical report?

MR. GOULD:  When you are talking about "this report" you are referring to the report of May 13th?

MR. SHEPHERD:  May 13th, yeah. 

MR. GOULD:  You can characterize it any way that you like, but it certainly has criticism in it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  The next major milestone in this project is in October 2015, right?  Where you are supposed to deliver a release quality estimate –- or, sorry, Mr. Reiner is?

MR. REINER:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that is what you are gearing towards right now.  There's lots of things you have to do in between, but that's really the key next step?  That is when you get to -- get the go-ahead to actually do the project, right?

MR. REINER:  That's correct.  I mean, the release quality estimate is -- that will establish the baseline schedule and baseline cost for the execution work on the unit outages themselves, so that is a major milestone ahead of us.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That is also the basis of your contracts, right?  It's going to be the basis of your contracts?

MR. REINER:  The contracts are -- they are not directly linked to the release quality estimate.  The contracts typically are divided into definition phase work and execution phase work.  It happens to coincide with the release quality estimate.  The release quality estimate will be done slightly before we get into execution phase, but the timing coincides.

Because in definition phase, essentially, the work that is needed to be done to put together the release quality estimate gets done in that time period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And what's the -- the release quality estimate is a level 2 estimate; is that right, Mr. Gould? 

MR. GOULD:  That is the intent that OPG has, that it will be in the range of a level 2 estimate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Which is -- it could be 10 percent cheaper or 30 percent more expensive; is that right?

MR. GOULD:  There are different ranges that have been incorporated for that, so we would have to look at the specifics of OPG's plan.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  What is the expectation for the release quality estimate?  Is there a plan right now for what the certainty bands will be for that estimate? 

MR. REINER:  It will be -- for some work it will be class 3, and for some work it will be class 2.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I am asking:  What's the certainty band for that?

MR. REINER:  So you can assume that the uncertainty band matches what you referenced, which comes out of the PMI best practices.

For the retube and feeder replacement work, which is essentially about 60 percent of the entire project, it will be a class 2 estimate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So is that minus 10 to plus 30?

MR. REINER:  Let me just validate that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The standard is actually a range, right?  A range of ranges?

MR. ROSE:  That's correct, so we have that as a range of minus 15 to plus 20.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Minus 15 to plus 20?

MR. ROSE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if the retube is -- I am just -- what's it called, the RFR?

MR. REINER:  Yes, the retube and feeder replacement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  If that is, let's say, 6 billion -- and I don't know what the actual number is, but let's say 6 billion -- then it could be 5 billion to 8 billion or so, or 7 and a half?  Is that reasonable to think? 

MR. ROSE:  Yeah, it will be 20 percent -- it will be 15 percent less than your point estimate, up to 20 percent above that point estimate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, all your estimates to date have been range estimates, but the release quality estimate is going to be a point estimate, right?

MR. ROSE:  The release quality estimate will be -- the way you get to the release quality estimate is you have a point estimate plus a range of uncertainty, being this range.  That -- those two pieces added together will be the estimate, our baseline estimate that we'll be measured against.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess I am asking a different question, though.  So far in your -- because right now you have a level 4 estimate, right?  You are on 4C now?

MR. ROSE:  We have different projects at different phases.  Some are at class 4, some are at class –- there's some at class 5.  There's some at class 3.  There is a few in the prerequisite projects that are into execution phase that are at class 2.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, and there is a couple built?

MR. ROSE:  Generally speaking, on average we are at class 4.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And those are all range estimates?  There are no point estimates in those, right?

MR. ROSE:  How you get to a range estimate is you have a point with a range of uncertainty on it.  So, again, the two added together gets to that --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I am going to ask Mr. Gould:  One of your reports, you talked about how important it is to move from range estimates, which is what's happening right now, to release quality, which is a point estimate.  And it's different, right? 

MR. GOULD:  Could you point me to what you are referring to?  There is a lot of material here, but -- do you want me to answer generally? 

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm asking generally.  We will get to it eventually.  I just want to understand right now.

MR. GOULD:  So maybe one way of approaching this, if you look at page 5 of our June 26, 2014 report, there is -- we embed within page 5 of that report the Association for Advancement of Cost Engineering table of estimate classification.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes?

MR. GOULD:  So this has been adopted by OPG as the standard by which they are developing the estimates for the project.  So all the project costs and all of your questions essentially are tethered to this particular table.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So right now, the estimates that OPG has are minus 30 to plus 50?

MR. GOULD:  So I think Mr. Rose just stated -- and I would agree with that -- that different pieces of the project are at different maturity level right now.  It's not each -- I think that's clear, so I will just stop there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  These estimates aren't just useful for management purposes and for regulatory purposes; these are also important for contract, right? 

MR. GOULD:  Estimates are important for any number of things, sir.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The contracting strategy that OPG has selected, the target price strategy, is driven by good estimates, isn't it?

MR. GOULD:  An essential price of a target price contract is developing a good estimate.  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Excellent.

So I am still on page 1 of your May 13th report.  And you talked about OPG shifting from -- shifting its engineering strategy to direct management of engineering service providers, and you called this a "bold but necessary move." 

Can you tell us a little bit more about that?  What does that mean?  How did they do it before and how is that changing?

MR. GOULD:  So if you read further into our report, one of the things that you will see is we identified that some of the early procurements on the early -- on the pilot projects in the campus plan, the D2O storage and the AHS project, were procured on the basis of what is called a high-level technical spec, specification, performance specification, where the owner lays out certain performance requirements and then expects the -- in this case, the EPC contractor or in these cases the EPC contractors --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Tell us what EPC is.

MR. GOULD:  EPC is engineering, procure and construct, so when I use that term, that's sometimes -- excuse me.  Sometimes we fall into acronyms --


MR. SHEPHERD:  We should actually try to avoid acronyms.

MR. GOULD:  I will do my best not to.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The Board Panel has asked us to not use them.

MR. GOULD:  Yes.  So EPC is a term that's used throughout the construction industry, so it's not specific just to nuclear.  So other people testifying in completely different realms in this would say the same thing.

So at first in -- with those pilot projects there were performance specifications provided to the contractor that laid out some general and some specific standards by which the engineering needed to be procured.  And then the engineers were essentially given that specification and given the charge to go forward with the design work on the basis of that specification and develop a full design on that basis.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So, now, that's not a technical specification.  That's a functional specification.


MR. GOULD:  I said "performance specification".


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's the distinction, is that you say to them, You're the experts.  This is what we want to achieve, and you design it and build it for us.  Give us a price?

MR. GOULD:  Well, I think you are leaping ahead a little bit too quickly.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. GOULD:  A performance specification absolutely includes certain technical requirements if it's developed appropriately, so I would not say that a performance specification is devoid of technical standards or requirements.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  All right.  But it is primarily functional.


MR. GOULD:  It is to -- a performance specification identifies what the owner wants.  Some have been -- in my experience, I have seen some that have been very, very detailed, extremely detailed, but it does leave certain elements of the design to the designer.  That's the intent.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So what OPG has done is it has moved away from that to more direct control over the engineering side of the work; right?


MR. GOULD:  That is our observation, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is not just for the stuff in projects and modifications organization, it's also for the stuff in the Darlington refurbishment projects too; right?


MR. GOULD:  Well, let me separate.  With the projects and modifications, the initial pilot projects set about procuring the work in this manner.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. GOULD:  With the refurbishment project, the main refurbishment project, the intent has always been to have a much more intrusive and direct association with the work from the engineering side.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The main contractor in the refurbishment, the biggest contractor, is SNC-Aecon?


MR. REINER:  SNC-Aecon, they are the contractor doing the retube and feeder replacement work and also the turbine generator work.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So they have, what, 70 or 80 percent of the project?


MR. REINER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And they are actually the successor to Atomic Energy Canada Limited; right?


MR. REINER:  SNC-Lavalin acquired the CANDU business that was sold by AECL, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so this is really -- it's all those same people.  These people have worked on Pickering, right, as AECL?


MR. REINER:  I wouldn't say it's all the same people.  CANDU Energy is a subsidiary of SNC-Lavalin.  Our contract is with SNC-Lavalin and Aecon.  There is a project management team that are a combination of SNC and Aecon folks, but they do also bring people from CANDU Energy Inc. on to the project, as well as many other subcontractors.  There are many subcontractors involved in that project.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You have a contract with them; right?


MR. REINER:  With?


MR. SHEPHERD:  With SNC-Aecon.


MR. REINER:  With SNC-Aecon, yes, we do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can we see that?


MR. REINER:  That's --


MR. KEIZER:  Why would you need to see that?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, because the story here that we are hearing in public is that there is no problems with that part of the work, it's only the campus plan that has problems.  But if you actually dig into this -- and we are going to get into it -- in fact the biggest problems are with that contract.  That's why we need to see it.  I mean, we are going to ask about this.


MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, you are seeing it because you feel that there is issues under the SNC-Lavalin contract that somehow is revealed through these reports?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Yes.


MR. KEIZER:  So you just want to see -- is there any particular aspects of the SNC contract you are looking for, or just everything in the --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you are the one who's asking for approval of your contracting strategy.


MR. KEIZER:  Yeah, I was asking for approval of the contracting strategy.  OPG is,  I'm not, but OPG is.  We're not looking for the approval of the contracts.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, if you want approval of the contracting strategy, you probably need to show the contracts.


MR. KEIZER:  Well, that may be subject to debate.  One second.


I think what we will do is we will talk about it over the break, and then we will be able to get back to you as to whether we will or will not.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I don't think we need a number yet.  We will wait until after.


All right.  So in your May 13th report, Mr. Gould, you say the -- and this is in the middle of the first page:

"The campus plan projects remain a significant risk to the refurbishment project."


I am going to come to the next part of that sentence in a second, but as of right now it's still true, isn't it, that -- am I right in this, that the plan for breaker open, which is when you actually start execution of unit 2, is at risk because of the campus plan; is that right?


MR. GOULD:  We identified the potential for that risk, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that hasn't changed.  That's still true.


MR. GOULD:  And it's specific to the D2O storage, the heavy-water storage building, yes.



MR. SHEPHERD:  Because there is no more float in that; right?


MR. GOULD:  At this time, that is a very tight schedule; that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Can you describe what float is?


MR. GOULD:  Float is the amount of time within a project schedule that separates the completion of either the project itself or individual activities from the necessary final end date of that work.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have a target date to finish something, and you have a drop-dead date, where you have to finish it, and between those is float.


MR. GOULD:  That's -- I think that's a fair --


MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's sort of like -- we think of contingency as being a dollar figure, but there's actually a time contingency too, and that is what that is, right?


MR. GOULD:  Absolutely.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Good.


So you talk about the campus plan performance project risk, and you say:

"Schedule adherence is so poor that the campus-plan work poses multiple threats to the start of the refurbishment."


Now, you've talked about the D2O threat.  What other timing threats are there?


MR. GOULD:  What we were highlighting there is the need for the projects and modifications organization to get on top of the remaining projects that are still maturing at this time.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So they don't go the same direction as D2O.


MR. GOULD:  Not every project has the same goal or function.  Mr. Reiner described each of the projects earlier.  They are -- they have different functions.  They are scattered in different places around the site, achieving different things.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But -- okay.  And in fact, some of them are on schedule, on a budget, right?  Now.


MR. GOULD:  Yes, Mr. Reiner described it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That wasn't true six months ago, but -- six months ago you had none on schedule, but now you have some on schedule, right?


MR. REINER:  Most of the projects are on schedule and on plan.  Out of the 19 that I listed there were three specifically that were challenged with that Mr. Gould identified.  That was also the case -- I would say six months ago we -- at that time, based on where the three projects were at that Mr. Gould referenced, the risks hadn't manifested themselves yet at that point in time.


So it is actually the other way around.  We were tracking right to plan in large part.  I mean, we had identified that there were some risks that were emerging from some of the projects, but the majority of those projects were tracking to plan.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess, Mr. Gould, you said in your November report -- I am just looking for it.  I am pretty sure I remember you said that they were all -- all of the projects were behind schedule.  Am I right with that, or did I misunderstand your report?  I can't find the reference right now.


MR. GOULD:  Can you point me -- I would really ask you to point me to the reference in the report.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, I am looking for it.  I can't find it.


I will come back to that.  We will get to it at some point.


All right.  Now, you have -- back to page 1 of your May 13th report.  You have this list of problems, which you refer to as cascading management failures:  Misunderstandings of scope, uncontrolled scope creep, poor quality cost estimates, unrealistic and incorrect schedules, and inability to manage known risks, additional costs and delay.


So that's pretty serious, right?  You sort of listed pretty well everything that can go wrong with the project, right?


MR. GOULD:  I would agree that it's serious.  I don't necessarily agree with the last concept you threw into that question.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, no?  Okay.  There are things that could go wrong that haven't yet?


MR. GOULD:  There are lots of things that can go wrong on projects, and one of our jobs is to raise a red flag when we see signs early on that they may be happening.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, no, of course.  And what you said is that P&M, projects and modifications, was overwhelmed. Now, you are referring to -- this is a May report, but overwhelmed is something that is not true anymore, right?  Projects and modifications is now more on top of this, right?


MR. GOULD:  I believe that is true, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason is because there has been some change of managements and change of strategy, right?


MR. GOULD:  I would agree with that.  And what I would also say is I think that at -- you have to remember that a big piece of this report -- and when I say "this report," I mean the May 13th, 2014 report -- was a backward look to identify in essence how these projects had gotten to this point, so --


MR. SHEPHERD:  You referred to it a number of times as a root cause analysis, right?


MR. GOULD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That is what this is, in essence?


MR. GOULD:  In essence, and in the form of a board report, yes, root cause analysis within the nuclear industry can sometimes take on a different meaning.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, what is the other meaning, then?


MR. GOULD:  Well, a root cause analysis of a nuclear safety issue can get down into very, very specific human performance issues and other things.


But the intent of this report was to identify the root cause of the threats that we saw to the schedule and to the budget, and that's what's important here.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  All right.  You say -- at the last two lines of this page you say:

"Senior management has committed to a full reforecast of the cost of each of the campus plan projects."


So is that done? 


MR. GOULD:  It's in process right now.


MR. SHEPHERD:  When do we expect to see that, Mr. Reiner?


MR. REINER:  The forecasting of projects is done on an ongoing basis.  Every project that is in flight on a monthly basis gets a forecast to complete.  So it's an going process.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So this isn't anything -- so where it says that you "committed to a full reforecast," that's nothing special?  That's what you do anyway?


MR. REINER:  That is what we do.  In the case of the D2O storage project, we are -- in reference to that project specifically, we are looking at detailed scope and engineering, which are still underway, to come up with a release quality estimate, so to speak, for that project.


So that's to come up with the estimate.  As far as forecasts go, that's an ongoing process on a project, a forecast every month.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So, Mr. Gould, when you wrote this, did you know that, that they weren't actually going to do a reforecast?


MR. GOULD:  They are doing – they -- so let's back up a step.


So what we refer to here as a reforecast is looking at the essential underpinnings of the project's estimate and schedule.  And that is not something that is always engaged in on a monthly basis.  This is going back to looking at the basis of estimate and understanding -- having a deeper understanding of the maturity of engineering, of the maturity of procurement, of all the things that would influence the formation of a cost estimate.


And on the D2O storage and AHS projects, that is absolutely happening while we are in this room today.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is much more fundamental than the normal review of your budget every month, right?


MR. GOULD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So where are you on that, Mr. Reiner?


MR. REINER:  For the projects that have been highlighted -- the auxiliary heating system, the water and sewer project and D2O storage project -- as being the problematic projects, we are not yet complete with the D2O storage project.  That's work that is in process.


The auxiliary heating system, we do have a forecast that is part of our plan.  Likewise for the water and sewer project.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, that forecast, what is the forecast?  How much is it?  For auxiliary heating? 


MR. ROSE:  The forecast for the auxiliary heating is at $85.1 million.  In May 2014 we took a revised business case to our board of directors and obtained approval of that business case.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And this is actually closing to rate base in the test period, isn't it?  This 85 million?


MR. ROSE:  That is correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So can we see that business case, then, please?


MR. ROSE:  Yes.  We will take an undertaking to provide you the business case.


MS. BINETTE:  JT3.2. 

UNDERTAKING NO. JT3.2:  TO PROVIDE REVISED MAY 2014 BUSINESS CASE.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Now, this says there would be a reforecast of all of the campus plan projects.  So there is bunch of others that are supposed to close to rate base in 2014 and 2015; do you have reforecasts of those, of this fundamental type? 


MR. ROSE:  So just looking at the table 1 on page 6 of the D2-2-2 exhibit, just quickly going through the list, Darlington OSB refurbishment, a reforecast of that project has been done.  Full release BCS was presented and approved by our board of directors earlier this year.


The D2O storage facility --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Hang on, sorry.  Stop.  You had a release 4C estimate for OSB refurbishment, but you've changed it, right?  So the one you are talking about that was approved by your board of directors earlier was your 4C, right?


MR. ROSE:  We have a release 4C estimate which was approved by the board of directors, which is the program-level estimate, which includes all of our projects.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I am asking about -- you have a new forecast for OSB refurbishment, right?


MR. ROSE:  We prepared a new forecast this year for OSB refurbishment.  That is correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  After the 4C?


MR. ROSE:  After the 4C.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That has been approved?


MR. ROSE:  That has been approved.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's the 53 million?


MR. ROSE:  So we have a new budget completion for the OSB refurbishment.  And again, on an ongoing basis, month over month, we do project forecasts.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  What else have you reforecast since May 13th? 


MR. ROSE:  So the D2O storage facility is underway right now, and the forecasts will be finalized for that one by August.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you actually have a forecast for that, right?


MR. ROSE:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But it's -- one of these reports says it's being challenged and confirmed, right?


MR. ROSE:  That's is correct.  Let me just step back to and repeat what Mr. Gould had referenced, and Mr. Reiner.


We do forecasts every month on the latest information.  It's a normal routine as part of our project management.  We assess the trends of the project and do forecasting.


On a periodic basis in alignment with our gated process, our release of funds process, we take business cases, updated business cases to our board of directors.


For the program level, we take it in 4Charlie, so in November of 2013 for the overall program, which includes --


MR. KEIZER:  Let me clarify what "4Charlie" is.


MR. ROSE:  What we call release 4Charlie, which is our November 2013 business case that we take to our board, it's a program-level business case that includes all of the elements of the program and the estimates at that point in time.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's called 4 because it's intended to be a level 4 estimate, on average?


MR. ROSE:  No.  It's called 4 because that's the sequence of the releases that we've had, and that's noted in our release strategy, which is in our evidence in D2-2-1.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.


MR. ROSE:  So we take a program-level release, which is our forecast at that point in time, as -- for our facility and infrastructure, our prerequisite projects.  We also, through our gated process, update our business cases and revise the estimates at that point in time.


And we compare them against 4Charlie, and we take that information to our board of directors to set our releases for those individual projects.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So on November 2013, you got approval of 552 million for the campus plan projects, right?  Release 4C estimate? 


MR. ROSE:  Where are you looking for that?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am actually looking at page 16 of the June 26th report of the -- Mr. Gould's group. 

MR. ROSE:  So subject to check, I would want to look at my own evidence for that number, but it's in that ballpark.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So these other ones, these other projects, they also have current forecasts.  Are those forecasts also all Board-approved?


MR. ROSE:  They all are except for the D2O, which is coming in August.  And the other FIP projects, which has a number of different things, some of those projects aren't yet at the point of initiation that we would take them to the Board.


MS. GIRVAN:  Sorry, Jay, can I interrupt for a second?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.
Questions by Ms. Girvan:

MS. GIRVAN:  I'm just, I'm getting a little confused about these numbers and what you are seeking recovery for in terms of updated and what you are still doing a forecast on, et cetera.


Where do we have -- and maybe I have missed it and maybe it is in this updated evidence -- the amounts that you are seeking recovery for during the payment periods?


MR. ROSE:  That is in the evidence D2 --


MS. GIRVAN:  Is that page 6?


MR. ROSE:  That is correct.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So those are the latest -- that's right now -- those are the amounts that you are seeking recovery of during -- in this payment period.


MR. ROSE:  That is correct, and they would align to our latest estimates.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Because Jay said something about the Darlington OSB refurbishment at 53 million, and I just got confused.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, no, the OSB refurbishment is 53 million.


MS. GIRVAN:  Well, it says here 45.1.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, because it's not all coming into service in the test period.


MS. GIRVAN:  Oh, okay.  This is the amount in the test period --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Or, no, is this the late -- maybe that is the old number.


MS. GIRVAN:  That was my -- why I was questioning it.  I didn't understand.
Questions by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Ah.  That still has the old number in it, right?


MR. ROSE:  No, I believe this is the new number.  This is the amount of that project that will go into service.  The project itself may have other elements that are not going into service, such as removal costs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  How could you have it not go into service all at once?  I don't understand.


MR. ROSE:  Certain projects have pieces, we call partial in service, pieces of the project that are going into service at different points.  With the OSB I would have to go back and look at this, but the 45.1 million is likely the project costs less the amount that is attributable to removal costs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the fact that it is the same as the release 4C estimate is just coincidence?


MR. ROSE:  That is the latest information that we have of the estimate of the OSB when this chart was put together, which was very recently.


MS. GIRVAN:  Sorry, Jay, just another follow-up.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.
Questions by Ms. Girvan:

MS. GIRVAN:  So the 222.7, that -- and the 67.2 for 2014 and '15, to date those are the amounts that you are seeking to recover?


MR. ROSE:  That is correct.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And are those subject to change, given some of these projects are being sort of reconsidered, reforecast?


MR. ROSE:  This forecast includes the latest estimates on the AHS, OSB.  This in-service report was recently put together.  Projects, as we go through the delivery and execution of those projects, there could be cost changes up or down against the estimate, and I guess the capacity refurbishment variance account would be utilized to deal with those variances of the final in-service amounts.


MS. GIRVAN:  Oh, okay.  Yeah, thank you, that's helpful.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.


MS. GIRVAN:  Sorry.
Questions by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am now on page 2 of your May 13th report.  So my new time estimate is now 88 hours.  Sorry, I was kidding, trust me.


On page 2 you have a recommendation that OPG look at the impact of these campus-plan projects on the definition-phase budget as soon as possible, Mr. Gould.  Do you know whether this has been done?


MR. GOULD:  Yes, I believe it has.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so can you tell us what the result is?  Or maybe Mr. Reiner can tell us what the result is.


MR. REINER:  I will ask Mr. Rose to speak to that.


MR. ROSE:  So that assessment has been done.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. ROSE:  We have assessed the impact of the campus-plan facilities on our definition-phase release at approximately $260 million.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Two hundred and...


MR. ROSE:  $60 million on our definition phase, which the period from 2010 'til RQE in the end of 2015.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So definition phase was about, what, 1.8 million?  1.8 billion?


MR. ROSE:  2.4 billion.


MR. SHEPHERD:  2.4.  And so you are adding about 10 percent or so.


MR. ROSE:  We are adding $260 million on that, so slightly over 10 percent; that is correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you are not expecting that that is going to impact your full Darlington refurbishment plan budget in any material way, right?


MR. ROSE:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You are going to save -- you have some stuff where you are going to narrow the scope of some things and recharacterize some expenses to get down to your original estimate; is that right?


MR. ROSE:  We are still developing our release quality estimate.  Based on the information that we have today, we believe that our -- the project estimate that we put forth at time of RQE will be less than $10 billion.  We have a high confidence of that estimate, based on what we know today.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Now, Mr. Gould, you see under the heading here "RQE preparation" you have a -- you have talked about the two new controls that are helping to get on top of the definition phase, if you like.  One is the options review board.  Can you tell us what that is?


MR. GOULD:  The options review board is a board within the project management organization chaired by Mr. Reiner that --


MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's not a board of directors type?

MR. GOULD:  No, no, no, no, it is a project management function within the team, and it is challenging on a monthly basis -- it is challenging the project managers to, in essence, defend the way in which the scope for the project is being accomplished.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So there was something called the blue-ribbon panel, which was a scope review panel; right?


MR. GOULD:  Yes, sir.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is different than that?


MR. GOULD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  How is it different?


MR. REINER:  So -- should I answer that?  Is it okay if I take that?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, I think that's good.


MR. REINER:  Yeah, so the blue-ribbon panel looked at the scoping process that we had in place for the Darlington refurbishment project, as scopes of work were identified, and they came from a variety of sources:  Component condition assessments primarily, and also regulatory requirements.  Those were the primary sources.


But essentially the condition of the equipment in the plant was looked at.  Coming out of that --


MR. SHEPHERD:  You were on that panel, right?


MR. REINER:  I was on both of these.  I am on both.


The scope review board essentially received recommendations from the people that -- from the folks that executed the component condition assessments, looked at the regulatory requirements.  They presented the scope requirements to the scope review board.


The scope review board approved or declined based on a set of principles, the principles being primarily what is -


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, sorry, just before you go on, does scope review board -- is that the same as blue-ribbon panel?


MR. REINER:  It is not, no.  Scope review board is a formal process that puts scope into the refurbishment 
project.  So that board essentially looks at, is it work that must be done during refurbishment, does it require the unit to be in the de-fuelled, de-watered condition, or is it a maintenance activity that is best done as part of normal plant maintenance.  That essentially sets the high-level scope for the refurbishment project.


The blue-ribbon panel, that was a separate activity, a small team that was put together that came back to the scope review board with a recommendation.  When the scope review board concluded, and it conducted its activities over about a two- to three-year time period, when it concluded, the blue-ribbon panel was asked, go through the list of scope top to bottom, apply that same filter the scope review board applied, and just see if there are items of scope that should not be part of refurbishment.  That is what the blue-ribbon panel did.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that was like a -- like a -- a sort of like a sober second look at the scope review board's work.


MR. REINER:  It was an additional check, I would say.  Part of the process of scoping a project, it's a prudent thing to do, to validate that the scope is scope that is required to be executed during refurbishment.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the blue-ribbon panel was senior vice-presidents.


MR. REINER:  That was led by a senior vice president, and it had other senior-level people on it but also had technical people on the panel as well, because there is a level of expertise that is needed at some point to really understand what the scope is and why it's required.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.  What I am getting at is it is called the blue-ribbon panel, it wasn't because they wore blue ribbons; it is because they were more senior people, right?


MR. REINER:  Yes.  They were more senior people, but ultimately their recommendation was brought to the scope review board and the approval to change scope was done by the scope review board.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So now you have the options review board; how is that different? 


MR. REINER:  So the options review board, now as projects take that scope and start to develop, start to do engineering work and develop cost estimates and schedules, what the options review board does it essentially does a check at three places along the path, to getting to a detailed level of understanding of what the work is.


The first check is:  Are the requirements understood?  Is everybody clear on what the actual scope requirement is?


The second check is:  What are the options that are being considered to satisfy that scope of work?


And then the third, the third check is at conclusion of that, you know:  Are all the pieces in place that need to be in place in order to ensure a valid estimate and schedule can be put together?


It is embedded in our gated process and it's -- these are essentially interim checkpoints between the gates that occur at definition phase.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's sort of like a constant challenge of what the line people are doing?  You are constantly sort of challenging whether they are using the right scope or they're assuming the right inputs, et cetera, on a constant basis?


MR. REINER:  Yes, it does -- it does some of that.  And it's also a challenge to ensure that the solutions that are being proposed to execute the scope are the right solutions, that the right options have been looked at and the right solutions are being pursued.


And I can give you -- I can give you an example.


One of the items that came to the scope review board a couple of months back was a proposal for putting the barriers, the fencing barriers around the refurbishment unit.  And those fencing barriers serve the purpose of ensuring that operations staff are aware where the boundaries are, where a contractor may have the work authority.  So a proposal came forward that was quite a sophisticated proposal in terms of fencing and installation of fencing.


What the scope review board did with that is they asked the team to look at other options that simplify that process of implementing barriers, and the project team, with that, went back, had a look at some of these other options, and the net result was a much simpler solution that was easier to implement and saved us some money.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right, I understand.


You talked about the gated process, and there is a comment here that one project is going through gate 3 prior to the fall of 2015.


Do we have information on the gated process in the evidence?  You actually have a document, right?  A formal gating document, right? 


MR. ROSE:  Yes, we do.  I would have to reference where that is in the gated process.  In fact, we had it in our prior hearing as well, but we actually have a project controls document which describes the gated process.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not in the evidence in this proceeding, is it?


MR. ROSE:  I believe it is in the evidence, in one of our project management plans, our program management plans in this evidence, so I can --


MR. SHEPHERD:  If you could, just over the break, sort of find out where it is, that would be useful to me.


MR. ROSE:  I will do that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Because I looked for it and there is only, like, 25,000 pages of stuff, and I couldn't find it.  I don't know why.


MR. ROSE:  I understand.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Confidential, confidential...  all the good stuff is confidential.


You talk a number of times here about the problems in the projects and modifications group associated with extended service -- master services agreements.


So, Mr. Gould, at the bottom of page 3 there is a reference to that and two contractors that work under those.  Can you give us just a brief explanation of what the problem is with using that approach? 


MR. GOULD:  First of all, why don't I describe what the approach is?  And then let's see whether there is a problem with it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Yes.


MR. GOULD:  So the idea was to -- and this is used in a number of different utilities that I have been associated with in the past.  The idea is to have a master service agreement, so that would be the MSA part of the ESMSA acronym, a master service agreement that would have terms and conditions that had been previously negotiated that you would use on a repeated basis for different work.


The ES part of ESMSA is extended service, and my understanding -- this happened before we were on the project, but my understanding was the ESMSA contract was to be utilized in a number of different ways with these two vendors, that there was an open process to look at the contractors' qualifications, to look at their team, to look at their pricing structure.  And in that open process, these two contractors were selected as meeting OPG's requirements, and that, depending on the circumstance, that the -- these same contractors under those terms and conditions could be utilized in either or all of E, engineering, P, procurement, or C, construction, or together as an EPC, or perhaps even just as an engineering and procurement contract.


So it gave OPG a number of options on how to proceed, based on an original competitive process.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If I can simplify this for my non-engineering mind, you have some contractors that you deal with regularly, and you say:  Rather than negotiate a contract each time when you win a bid or when we sole-sourced to you, we will have a set of rules that always apply to you.  Here is your sort of basic contract.  And then if you win a bid or if you get sole-sourced, that will just plug right in as a project under that contract? 


MR. GOULD:  Yes.  And there are actually different forms that OPG generated for different purposes under the auspices of that general umbrella of contract.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Beautiful.  Beautiful.  Did you have something to add to that, Mr. Reiner?  You looked eager.


MR. REINER:  No, I was going to say that's right.  That contract is used in a variety of places for a variety of work across the nuclear business, so by projects and modifications to execute the work here that we are talking about.


It also gets utilized during outages, for example, during station maintenance outages, to provide construction report for work that's done there.


MR. SHEPHERD:  There is nothing unusual about this, right?  This is used in construction work for businesses all over the world; it's a standard approach, right?


MR. REINER:  It's a standard approach, yes.


MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd, I don't mean to interrupt your examination.  I just was wondering --


MS. BINETTE:  We are thinking of taking a break at 11 o'clock.


MR. KEIZER:  At 11:00?  Okay.  I just want to make sure our witnesses were okay.  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  You make a reference on page 5 of this report, Mr. Gould, to one of the problems being that -- and you see number 5 here:


"Inaccurately or untimely report the project's progress, risks and cost and schedule overruns to the DR team and senior management."


So do I understand that that problem was that projects and modification basically wasn't telling the whole story to either management or Mr. Reiner's group in a timely way?


MR. GOULD:  I don't know about -- I don't know if I would agree with the "whole story," but their reporting lacked specifics and certain information.  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So they would see that there's a big cost overrun, and they wouldn't tell anybody for a while?


MR. GOULD:  I don't know that that's the case, sir.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  Then I misunderstand what you are saying.  Maybe you could tell us what "inaccurately or untimely report the project's progress, risks and cost and schedule overruns" is.


MR. GOULD:  So your question was going into the intent of the individuals.  What we see is the result of the reporting.  So from a backward-looking lens, we can see that there may have been information that could have been mined that was not pulled out and put forward to the DR team.  So that's the distinction I would make.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  On the next page you talk about, and then you criticize, I think, if I am understanding this correctly, you criticize projects and modifications for going to get full funding approval -- I'm quoting you here -- at a point when very little design was done.  Why don't you expand on that.


MR. GOULD:  So Mr. Rose described the gating process, and what we found was that there was an over-reliance on the price provided by the contractor in these circumstances, where there was an assumption that is proven to be incorrect that the contractor's initial bid price was a price that was worthy of taking for full funding release.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So there must have been some sort of documentation that was provided to the board to get approval to spend whatever it was, $552 million.  Do we have that?  I think that was for Mr. Reiner or Mr. Rose.


MR. ROSE:  So what we do is through the facility projects we would take to our board of directors an updated business case.  You have already given me an undertaking for AHS business case.  The D2O business case is currently within our evidence.  It will be updated for our August board.  The water and --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, sorry, what I am looking for is, you got full funding approval at a time when very little design was done.  There was a document.  That document is what I am looking for.


MR. ROSE:  That document for the heavy-water storage facility is in our current evidence.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  This says that -- because you actually got full funding approval on a program basis for the whole package; right?


MR. ROSE:  We got full funding approval on the program and for each of the facility and infrastructure projects.  We also go to the board of directors individually, and we are basically -- it's another layer of review by our board.  We assess the cost estimate against the overall program-level cost estimate that was approved by the board.  In many cases we're not asking you for additional funding, we are just asking for approval to proceed to the next phase of the project.  The funding was released at the program level.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So this paragraph talks about D2O storage and AHS, which is -- remind me what AHS is again?


MR. REINER:  Auxiliary heating system.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you went to get approval for, I don't know, $200 million from your board of directors.  Do you know when that was?


MR. ROSE:  For the AHS?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, this talks about both of them.  In both cases you sought the board's full funding approval when very little design was done.


MR. ROSE:  The cash flows, the costs were released at the program level in November of 2013.  The individual project for the D2O was taken to our board, I believe, in August of 2012.  Let me just verify that.  Yes, in --


MR. SHEPHERD:  But the point in time at which very little design was done was November 2013.  It was still not designed yet.


MR. ROSE:  Sorry, we took it to our board in August of 2012 and again in May of 2013.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And do we have those documents that you got approval on?  The basis on which you got the approval?  Again, you can tell us at the break.


MR. ROSE:  Yeah, I think they are in the evidence.


MR. KEIZER:  We will confirm at the break, but there are business cases that are in the appendices to the original filing.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am just trying to tie back to this particular criticism from Modus, and I would like to see the document that Modus is criticizing.


MR. KEIZER:  And whether the business case we have already produced is the same one that they have seen.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  It may well be.


MR. KEIZER:  All right.  We will try to clarify at the break.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, I just have one other thing before the break, and that is, this was confusing to me.  This next paragraph -- and I will start with you, Mr. Gould, but I think it's actually Mr. Rose that probably has to answer the questions.


You started in August 2011 with a D2O budget that was 210.6 million, and 11 months later you said, Oh, no, it's it's only going to be 108 million.  Tell us about this.

MR. GOULD:  So first of all, I don't know that the budget was $210 million.  What we say is that there was an estimated cost of $210 million.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. GOULD:  So the budget is based on the more refined number that appears as $108 million.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But the problem with $108 million was that that wasn't a real number and everybody knew it, right?


MR. GOULD:  I don't know what people knew at the time.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, didn't you say somewhere that -- well, no, I will have to wait until the -- I will wait until the confidential part to ask my questions about that.


Why don't we take the break now.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, we will come back at 11:10.


--- Recess taken at 10:56 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:19 a.m.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Let's get started again.


Mr. Keizer, did you have some responses to some of the questions from Mr. Shepherd, or did you want to speak to that? 


MR. KEIZER:  Yes, I can speak to that.  I guess first dealing with the SNC contract, I mean, I know we had some discussion earlier about the fact that we are seeking approval of the contracting approach but not the contract per se.  The contract itself is thousands of pages long, so I am not sure necessarily how helpful that would be to produce the whole thing.  What we're looking into now is that there may exist a summary of the contract, which is not -- which is of reasonable detail.  And that is something we would look to the see if we could produce that, and that may be of more assistance than producing thousands more pages in a proceeding that already has probably more thousands than we need.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am happy to take a look at the summary to see if it meets our needs, but -- I too don't want to read thousands of pages, but I am sure the Board Panel would like to, but...


I am happy to see that for now, and then if it turns out there is stuff that we still need, we can talk about it then.


MR. KEIZER:  Again, just because of the nature of commercial relationships between the parties, we again will have the caveat that parts will probably have to be redacted with respect to those contractual terms and competitive process and whatnot.


MR. MILLAR:  So to be clear, Mr. Keizer, are you undertaking to provide that or to look into providing it?


MR. KEIZER:  I think we want to see the summary first.  I have been told that it exists.  I haven't seen it.  And so I think we will try and see if we can clarify it over the lunch break, again, further.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can we give it an undertaking number?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  JT3.3, and that is to look into providing the summary of the SNC-Lavalin contract. 

UNDERTAKING NO. JT3.3:  TO LOOK INTO PROVIDING THE SUMMARY OF THE SNC-LAVALIN CONTRACT, OR EXPLAIN WHY IT CAN'T BE PROVIDED.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, to either provide it or explain why they can't.


MR. MILLAR:  Very good.


MR. KEIZER:  That works.


With respect to the gated process, my understanding, it appears in Exhibit D-2-2-1, attachment number 3. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. KEIZER:  And you had a question that related to number –-


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, before you go away from that, is that the current gated process document? 


MR. ROSE:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Good.  Thanks.  Go ahead. 


MR. KEIZER:  Then you had a question that was tied to your line of questions on page 6 of 23 of the May 2013 Modus report.


And the business case for D2O storage that refers to the 108 million is produced in evidence, and it's one of the attachments to the original Exhibit D2-2-1, and that's attachment 8. 


And on AHS, that business case, which was produced, I believe, in May of 2013, it also is an attachment to the original evidence.  And we have already provided the undertaking to provide the May 2014 revised business case. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  That's good.  If there was nothing else, let's carry on.


On page 7 of your report, Mr. Gould, you talk about the D2O storage being -- the projected completion is April 26, 2016, and it was originally a year earlier.


When did that change happen, do you know?  When did the change from the deadline of April 15th, 2015 to a year later happen?  You have referred to it a number of times in your reports.


MR. GOULD:  So the April 15th, 2015 deadline, I believe was a very early schedule for D2O storage, based on the initial project management schedule that may go back to 2009 time frame.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am asking when was it changed to 2016.  Maybe Mr. Reiner knows.


MR. GOULD:  Well, when it was changed -- so what -- maybe I should explain here that the -- that what as showing is April 26, 2016 is a projection based on the current detailed schedule, or as of this time, as of the timing of this report, what was shown from the detailed schedule.  We had that discussion earlier about a float and target --


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I'm missing –-


MR. GOULD:  Can I finish?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.


MR. GOULD:  We had the discussion earlier about float and target dates and hard dates.  So when the schedule was developed, it was showing that the string of activities led out to this April 26, 2016 date.  Whether that constitutes a change is a different question entirely.
Questions by Ms. Girvan:

MS. GIRVAN:  Sorry, it's Julie again.  In the schedule in the evidence, it says January 17, the in-service date for the storage, the current -- final in-service date, January 2017.  That's just -- I am just trying to clarify that.  At page 6 in the schedule, table 1, D2, tab 2, schedule 2.


MR. ROSE:  That is correct.  That is our latest forecast for the latest -- the final in-service date for the D2O.

Questions by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  That I am going to come back to when the change took place, because I asked the question poorly. But let me just follow up on that.


Doesn't that, then, cause a problem with your vacuum building outage?  If it's January 17th is the in-service for the D2O storage facility?  I thought that was a critical path item before the VBO.


MR. REINER:  It's not linked to the vacuum building outage; it's linked to the start of the refurbishment.


So the start of the refurbishment is October 2016.  We initially start with a de-fuelling time period, about 100 days of de-fuelling, at which point we would be ready to begin de-watering.


So I think just for further clarification here, Mr. Gould's review, at the time it was conducted the information that was being looked at by the project was this April 2016 projected date.


We are in process, currently, of revising -- and the business case has not yet been updated; it is targeted to be updated for August -- of revising the cost estimate and the schedule.


And I -- and having an in-service of January poses a significant risk to the project. As part of this updated business case, we are looking at the opportunities that are available to us to have the facility in service by August of 2016.  That is -- that is the direction that the project team are currently working under.


Now, so they are looking at what can be done in the construction schedule to make that date, but that is the date that we are looking at having that facility completed.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So can you -- you have -- we have a bunch of different dates here for what is a $300 million project, right?


And so you started at April 2015, you moved it to April 2016, then to January 2017, and now you're moving it back to August 2016.  Can you take us through what has happened to cause these changes, just briefly? 

MR. REINER:  So what has happened on that project is when the initial estimate was submitted by the contractor -- so this goes back to the business case that's filed in evidence -- the scope of work was not well understood.  So since that time, there have been a variety of reviews done and they are reviews that include engineering, operations, maintenance, to look at the facility, assess whether it meets the requirements, understand in whole the total scope of that facility, also understood the construction complexities.  That facility is being constructed under a new set of seismic requirements that the CNSC has issued.  Because it is a nuclear safety facility it contained tritiated heavy water.  We have to protect and contain that water in the event of a seismic event.


Those seismic changes were very recent updates from the CNSC, so that has resulted in significant changes in the construction.  We have -- so for example, what it has entailed is caissons and pylons down to bedrock for that facility, concrete encasement, tritium removal systems.


So all of those requirements are now fully understood, and that's why we are in process of doing a revision of the estimate and the schedule.


The 2017 -- the January 2017 date was sort of the best estimate at the time of this, but we are looking at pulling that back to put float, as we discussed earlier, back into the schedule.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I followed it right until the end.  You are trying to move January '17 down back to August 2016.


MR. REINER:  August 2016.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then what are you doing to add float?


MR. REINER:  Well, that's -- so January 2017 is the current best information that we have.  We want to move that to August 2016.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But that means less float.


MR. REINER:  Yes, it means less float.  The actual requirement for the facility would be around about January 2017.  That is when it will be required in order to begin storing heavy water from the refurbishment unit.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So -- and you have had a problem with one of your contractors already about this.  Targeting your drop-dead date is a bad idea.


MR. REINER:  That's right, and that is why we are pulling it back to August.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. REINER:  Yeah.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So Mr. Gould's report here says that if you want to -- in the same paragraph I was just looking at -- that if you want to accelerate your schedule, it comes at an additional cost.  Is that what you are expecting, is you are going to have to increase the cost in order to do this?


MR. REINER:  I mean, the -- so ways of accelerating schedules include multiple shifts.  When construction --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Which is more money --


MR. REINER:  -- work forces -- exactly -- work multiple shifts you play premiums for that.  But that decision will be made in the context of the refurbishment program.  So incurring an additional cost to accelerate that facility may be exactly the right risk mitigation approach to take for refurbishment, and that is how it will be assessed.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It might be more expensive if it goes late and impacts your critical path on other things.


MR. REINER:  Right, right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Because you have -- you called a date a breaker open date.  That is the actual date where you start execution on unit 2, right?


MR. REINER:  Yes, that is where unit 2 would essentially be shut down.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So breaker open means no more electricity.


MR. REINER:  No more electricity to the power grid.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  All right.  What I was actually driving at with these series of questions -- but that was all very interesting -- was, you had a schedule for the campus plan that you moved back a year at some point.  When did you do that?  When did you change it by a year?  Because there is commentary throughout about how you changed it by a year, but projects and modification didn't use that.  They just simply took more time.


MR. ROSE:  So back in our 2009 business case, we had talked about in October 2016 first unit refurbishment start, but there was some concern over the ability for the units to get to that effective full power hours to operate that far so that we could stagger all the units the way we had currently laid out, so in the 2009 business case we talked about, as mitigation for that, we will be ready to start one year earlier, right?


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is the April '15 --


MR. ROSE:  In the April' 15, so what we did is -- what we have is a one-year-earlier start, so October 2015.  Generally speaking, all of our campus plans from a project controls milestone perspective were tied to being ready six months prior to the start of the outage.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then when did you change that and give the project and modifications organization the extra year?


MR. ROSE:  I believe it was in the 2012 time frame, and certainly in our updated business case in 2013 we noted the reasons for those changes.  We were getting increased confidence of the ability for the assets to operate, and therefore the risk of having to start the refurbishment in 2015 had diminished, and we were focusing on 2016.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And so when you went in November 2013 to get your approval for, what is it, 4C; is that right?


MR. REINER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You had already added this year by then.


MR. REINER:  The updated business case that was submitted that the approval was based on had the 2016 start date for the first unit refurbishment.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You always had a 2016 start date, right?  You only were planning to be ready a year early.


MR. REINER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you would have room.


MR. REINER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So now you have sort of used up that room and now you don't have any more sway, right?  Now you really do have to meet those targets.


MR. REINER:  Well, that room was to deal with the risk of fuel-channel end of life on the units.  That is what that room was for.  It was a mitigation measure to address idle time on units in the event the fuel channels could not get to their design life.


The fuel-channel life management project that's under way by nuclear operations has given us a high confidence that we can get to 2016 and avoid the potential for idle time.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  On page 8 of your report, Mr. Gould, at the top -- and we talked about this a bit a second ago and -- or just before the break -- you talk about:

"PM's management failed to provide visibility to OPG management of the extent or nature of project cost increases."


Basically, the project and modification organization, if I understand this right, was changing the scope as it went along, as it was sort of understanding what the scope should be, but wasn't telling management; is that right?  And I don't say that in a pejorative way.  They just weren't reporting it.


MR. GOULD:  So there is a -- in general I would agree with what you just said.  I think there is an aspect of that that's important, which is the maturity of the design.  As the design matures, as the projects mature, the relationship between that maturity and how it gets costed is something that we were focusing on here.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. GOULD:  The urgency around the costing of the maturity of the design.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you had, for example, you had an 85 percent confidence level in a cost estimate that was presented to the gating team.  Who is the gating team?


MR. REINER:  That is the gate review board that we talked about earlier.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Another board.  Oh, my goodness.  The gate review board.  All right.


And so there was an 85 percent confidence, but detailed engineering had not started.  I assume that's unusual.  You wouldn't normally say, if you hadn't done detailed engineering yet, that you had 85 percent confidence level; is that fair?


MR. GOULD:  I think that's fair.  I think what we saw was an over-reliance on the contractor's ability to identify the completion of design.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you comment later that -- in the big paragraph there further down -- that they spent half of their approved budget and they hadn't even finished their design.  Is that unusual?


MR. GOULD:  Is that unusual?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.


MR. GOULD:  I don't know how to answer "is it unusual".  It's what happened.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, is it unusual to have a project where you wouldn't even have finished the design and already -- you had already spent half your budget?


MR. GOULD:  It certainly is a red flag, which is why we pointed it out here.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Okay.


MR. REINER:  But, you know, maybe I can offer an opinion here.  It really depends on the project.  Depending on the technical complexity of the project, what's involved in the actual construction, you could have a very sophisticated engineering design that leads to actually a quite simple fabrication of something.


So if you were to look at projects on a variety of complexities, that isn't necessarily unusual.  It was unusual in this case, as Mr. Gould pointed out, but this is also a very complex project, and so the amount of engineering effort that is entailed in getting to final design is quite significant.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess I understand that, but it's not as complex as the RFR project, for example.


MR. REINER:  I would say it is more complex than the RFR project, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  More complex?


MR. REINER:  Retubing of a reactor has been done ten times by -- OPG has re-tubed four reactors at Pickering A.  Bruce Power has been re-tubed.  Point Lepreau has been re-tubed.  Wolsong has been re-tubed.  So we are next in line.


So yes, it is a complex job, but it is not complex from an engineering perspective.  The materials are like-for-like replacements, there are very rigorous quality standards and very precise ways in which that job needs to get executed.


The D2O storage facility is a brand new facility.  It is first of a kind.  It doesn't exist anywhere else in the world.  The integration with the tritium removal facility is unique.  OPG is the only entity that has a tritium removal facility, so from that perspective there is an element of complexity that is beyond what you would see on the re-tube job.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Just in sort of ten words or less, can you describe what the D2O storage facility does, is supposed to do, and why it is unique?


MR. REINER:  So the D2O storage facility, it holds the heavy water that is removed from the units that are being refurbished.  It sends that heavy water to the tritium removal facility de-tritiate so that we put back at the end of this process a lower level of radioactive water, essentially a safer level of water.


It also provides the Darlington Station ongoing tritium removal capability going forward.  It anticipates the requirement for Pickering heavy water to be de-tritiated at some point in time as part of its final end-of-service and decommissioning.


So that adds the complexity.


The other complexities, as I described, it's the construction, the seismic standards that it is built to.  It's the radioactive hazards that are contained within that facility.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.


MR. REINER:  And that's outside of the power plant, outside of containment.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What I am trying to understand is:  Why do you have a facility like this and nobody else does?


MR. REINER:  You know, OPG, for the fleet of reactors in Ontario, the tritium removal facility was built during the Ontario Hydro days.  Darlington was deemed as the site for de-tritiation.  Bruce Power uses that facility.  We de-tritiate water for Bruce Power, for the very same reasons we de-tritiate our own, to reduce the Curie levels and reduce environmental emissions and dose to workers.  We also had arrangements with Hydro-Québec to de-tritiate their water.


So, you know, from that perspective, you know, because at one time we were an integrated utility, that is how Darlington came to be.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So -- and the reason you need the storage facility now is because normally you would not need to store a whole lot of heavy water at one time; you would put it through the tritium removal facility and then ship it back wherever it is going to go, right?  But in this case you have to have storage for it for a while?


MR. REINER:  We have to have storage for two units of heavy water from Darlington, so that adds the storage element to the facility, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the D2O storage facility is only for the refurbishment, right?


MR. REINER:  No.  The D2O storage facility is for refurbishment and ongoing operations.  As part of ongoing operations, in order for Darlington to meet its tritium -- what we are seeing in the industry when it comes to tritium emissions limits, they are declining.  And our objective is to be within those declining tritium limits.  In order for Darlington to achieve that in its second life, the tritium removal facility is required.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that.  We have that right.


MR. REINER:  So is the D2O storage facility, because in order to get to these kinds of levels, the removal facility today is essentially take a gallon of heavy water out of the reactor, run it through the removal facility, put it back in.  To get to the tritium levels that are required, the storage is needed.  And that is -- it wouldn't be the same extent of storage, but there is an incremental requirement beyond what the facility has today that is required for ongoing operations.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You wouldn't be spending $300 million if you weren't doing a refurbishment? 


MR. REINER:  We wouldn't be spending $300 million, but we would be investing in the life management of the tritium removal facility.  When we -- we have looked at the refurbishment of that facility, and we expect that that could be up to about a $500 million investment to have that facility go to the end of its life.


This is a contributor to avoid that kind of an investment.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If you look at page 10 of your report, Mr. Gould, you see -- before the redacted area, you see it says:

"The consequences to OPG are two projects..."


And this refers to AHS and D2O, I think.
"... two projects that may cause external stakeholders to question OPG's management prudence."


What I want to understand is:  Is that your opinion, that it's legitimate to question their prudence, or are you simply identifying a risk that something might happen?


MR. GOULD:  It's the latter.  We are identifying it as a risk.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you are identifying it as a risk.


And have you had any -- this is probably for you, Mr. Reiner.  Have you had any situations in which external stakeholders are questioning your prudence because of these problems? 


MR. REINER:  I mean, I would -- I can't recall having a situation where somebody is -- has questioned our prudence.  These reports, they go to the nuclear oversight committee, they go to the project management team.  When we see gaps like this, we immediately address them and we take actions that we believe are prudent actions in response to the gaps that have been identified.


So that is precisely what we have done in the changes that have been made.


What Mr. Gould did in his Modus 5 report -- and he was asked to do that by our nuclear oversight committee -- is to assess management's response to the gaps that have been identified, and to see if those are appropriate responses that address the issues. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Take a look at the next page.  You have in the first bullet point under number 3 -- this is the heading "Current schedule status -- Mr. Gould says:

"The AHS project is currently projecting about three months behind schedule, which will delay the VBO outage."


So I guess my first question is:  Is that still true? 


MR. REINER:  So that is not true.  We are projecting to have the auxiliary heating system completed prior to the start of the VBO outage.


MR. SHEPHERD:  When was the scheduled date that was supposed to be done? 


MR. ROSE:  March 2015.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so now you are proposing -- and then you updated that to April 2015, and now you are back to March 2015?


MR. ROSE:  That is correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And what happened to -- well, let me ask Mr. Gould first.  You have reviewed this and you are happy now that they are on schedule again?


MR. GOULD:  What we have seen is the project team, the project and modifications project team, has looked at the schedule, has looked at the scope, has worked with the vendor to identify ways of reducing schedule time.


And subsequent to this report, we believe that they have gotten it, so called, back in the box, that this work can in fact be done by the appropriate date for VBO.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So do you have a new report that says that?  Does it say that in your June 26th report?


MR. GOULD:  I don't believe so. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is since last week you have reached this conclusion? 


MR. GOULD:  Perhaps, but we don't comment on every single thing in every single report in subsequent reports.  So it's not necessarily the -- we didn't go back and refocus on that particular sentence when we focused on the June 26th report.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right, but your evidence now is they are on schedule?


MR. GOULD:  My belief is that they have taken steps to mitigate what had been a three-month delay to the schedule, and that if you looked at the schedule for today, that you would see that it would fit for the VBO outage.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am sort of not asking that, because I am assuming -- they've said they have a schedule that says March 2015, so I am assuming they are not lying.  They have a schedule.  But your job is oversight, right, and so I am trying to understand, have you formed, or your team have formed an independent opinion that that schedule is achievable, is going to happen?


MR. GOULD:  What I'll tell you is we have seen the elements of all the things that have gone into the work relative to the auxiliary heat system project since the time that we wrote this report, and we can see that that work can result in this type of decrease in the schedule.


As I sit here right now, I can't tell you that our team has done a thorough and deep analysis of every aspect of that schedule, but it's something that we intend to do for our next report to the nuclear oversight committee.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Your next report is August; right?


MR. GOULD:  It would be timed for the August meeting; that is correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  All right.  Now, further on you have a discussion, the bottom part of that section --


MR. KEIZER:  Can I just have a moment, Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.


MR. ROSE:  Can I just have two minutes?


MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Rose would just like to step out for two minutes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you want us to continue or wait?


MR. KEIZER:  I would prefer to have the whole panel there in case you're getting into --


MR. SHEPHERD:  No problem.


--- Pause in proceedings.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Why don't we go back on the record and continue.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  The last paragraph of that section on page 11, current schedule status, talks about one of the ways to deal with the costs of the non-refurbishment scope, and that is to consider capitalizing those costs separately from refurbishment for purposes of future rate recovery.


So what I would like to know is from you, Mr. Reiner, I think, or Mr. Rose, what costs are you going to move out of refurbishment and put somewhere else, and where are they going?


MR. REINER:  This is a recommendation that Mr. Gould made in his report.  We have not yet done anything with that.  However, we are going to look at that facility in particular, as we would with any facility, what is its contribution to refurbishment, what is its contribution to continued operations.


And, I mean, I will leave it up to the finance folks and our rates folks on where those costs would go.  I don't think it would impact the in-service additions at all, but we will -- we will go through an exercise to apportion the cost to the right place.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then I don't understand.  The refurbishment wouldn't be in service now.  It's refurbishments in service in 2018 or something; right?


MR. REINER:  But that facility is a used and useful facility.  It will have heavy water in it, the heavy water will be flowing to the tritium removal facility, the water will be de-tritiated while we are refurbishing the unit.


So, I mean, this gets into a question of the accounting treatments around assets in service.  I mean, we would follow whatever the required practices are.


MR. SHEPHERD:  How far along are you in this parsing of the refurbishment versus non-refurbishment scope?


MR. REINER:  For this particular facility we have not -- we have not done that yet.  We have not looked at that yet.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You have done it for some of the other components of the campus plan?


MR. REINER:  There are some projects that we are executing that I listed in the 19 that are for operations purposes and for continued operations, like the operations support building.


Now, we are -- it is a refurbishment cost, and it is a refurbishment cost because those facilities wouldn't be required if we didn't refurbish the plant.  But there aren't any facilities like this one that have kind of that dual purpose.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, if I just go down this list in table 1 of the, what, nine named projects plus -- no, sorry, seven named projects plus three groups, right?  Is that right?  Can you tell me whether you have done an analysis of refurbishment versus non-refurbishment use for each of these, or which ones have you done such an analysis?


MR. REINER:  So the -- on this list, the Darlington OSB is a facility that's required for operations purposes.  It's not a refurbishment facility.  The rest of these facilities --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why is it called refurbishment?  Help me understand.


MR. REINER:  Because the project entails the refurbishment of a building.  A building is being refurbished.  The refurbishment project is -- relates to the Darlington units.  So it's just a title.  It's a project title.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. REINER:  So it is part and parcel of the overall refurbishment program, but it is not a facility that is required by the refurbishment project.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.


MR. REINER:  So --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it an existing building or is it a replacement building?


MR. REINER:  It's an existing building.  That building has issues with mould that has to be remediated.  It's also got issues associated with fire suppression, so it needs to be upgraded to current fire codes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why is it part of the Darlington refurbishment project at all then?


MR. REINER:  Well, if we were running the station to the end of life, we would probably find ways to avoid making the investment in that facility.  That facility will be there for the next 25 to 30 years of operation of the station.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.  Okay.


So then D2O storage you have already explained, right?  That that -- how that's used for the two.  You haven't done a formal analysis of that; right?


MR. REINER:  We haven't done an analysis of how the costs apportion between continued operations and refurbishment.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you had that coming in service during the test period in full, as I understand it, but now it's coming in service outside of the test period, but you are still closing some stuff to rate base.  I don't understand why that would be.  I mean, it's a storage facility; right?


MR. ROSE:  As part of the project there is some relocation of buried services, so some services that are around that facility that the project has to move and relocate and put back into service for operations use.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you -- and maybe this is easiest done by undertaking -- can you provide us with details of the 16.5 million that you are proposing to close to rate base in the test period for that project and how those components are different from the rest of the project?


MR. ROSE:  Certainly.  We can take an undertaking to do that.


MR. MILLAR:  JT3.4. 

UNDERTAKING NO. JT3.4:  TO PROVIDE DETAILS OF THE 16.5 MILLION THAT ARE BEING PROPOSED TO CLOSE TO RATE BASE IN THE TEST PERIOD FOR THAT PROJECT AND HOW THOSE COMPONENTS ARE DIFFERENT FROM THE REST OF THE PROJECT.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, the --


MS. GIRVAN:  Sorry, Jay, wouldn't that follow then --


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is your time, you know.

Questions by Ms. Girvan:



MS. GIRVAN:  Wouldn't that follow then for all of these projects?  That are going to continue on into '16, '17, '18, sort of specifically what they are asking for in this case? 


MR. ROSE:  So some projects would be fully in service in the rate period; some will not be.  I think what you are asking for is:  Can you -- for these projects listed can you tell us the in-service by whatever year they are going to go into service equivalent to the total cost of the project?  Is that what you're...


MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.  I am just looking at what -- I am trying to get a sense of what you are asking for for recovery in '14 and '15, relative to the sort of overall cost of the project and what makes them different.


MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, if I can put it another way, Julie, what you are saying is:  If there a project that is continuing on and parts are going into service in '14, '15, and other parts are coming in later, what parts are going into service in '14 and '15, and why --


MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.  I think that's what Jay asked for with respect to the storage facility, and it seems to make sense to me with respect to the other projects.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I was actually going to go a step further than that, so I will.


You got $290 million that you proposed to close to rate base in the test period, 289.9 million.  I can't find anywhere a list of what those things are and why they're used and useful now as opposed to part of the Darlington refurbishment project.


We have some information on stuff from your previous lists, but you now have a new list of what's going to go in service and when, and so what I would like is a list of all the -- what that $289.9 million is, which projects, and why they are used and useful now as opposed to later.  Can you do that? 


MR. KEIZER:  That's fine. 


MR. MILLAR:  JT3.5. 

UNDERTAKING NO. JT3.5:  TO PROVIDE AN UPDATED LIST OF PROJECTS CLASSIFIED AS USED AND USEFUL NOW RATHER THAN PART OF THE DARLINGTON REFURBISHMENT PROJECT.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, if you can move to page 12 of your report, Mr. Gould, you see the last line -- just before number 5, you see the last line is "P&M" -- project and modifications projects –- "are now visible, as is the recovery the new team is trying to make and the DR team" -- that's Mr. Reiner, right -– "must recognize that project and modification needs its support or the refurbishment of Unit 2 is very much at risk."


This is the most serious thing you have said in this, right?  The whole thing might be late?


MR. GOULD:  We identify that, yes, the refurbishment project needs to be focused on what is happening with projects and modifications.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the actual critical path of Unit 2 -- that is, that October 16 breaker open date -- is at risk if they don't get on top of this, right?


MR. GOULD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So, Mr. Reiner, tell us what you are doing to get rid of this "very much at risk."


MR. REINER:  So there is a number of things that have been done that we have implemented.  We touched on a couple of them already.


One is we are now embarking on a much more collaborative front-end planning process with the contractors.  And the intent behind that is to ensure that there is good common understanding of what the requirements are, ensure that proposed solutions meet the requirements.  So the idea is shortened timelines, to get to detailed engineering complete.


And then we are also looking at opportunities for reducing review cycles, again to shorten timelines and help to mitigate some of the risks.  And we are doing that by actually physically embedding engineering resources with the contractor.


And so as part of our project oversight, the reviews will essentially be done in flight, as the work is progressing, by embedded resources.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So an OPG engineer --


MR. KEIZER:  I don't know if Mr. Reiner is finished or not.  Are you finished your answer?


MR. REINER:  I had a couple of other things, but --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I just wanted to follow up on that point.


MR. KEIZER:  Maybe you can let him finish his points, and then you can...


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I think I can ask about that point.


MR. KEIZER:  Let him finish his answer.  He has a right to answer the question fully that you asked.


MR. SHEPHERD:  By all means go ahead.  And I will forget what it was, and then we will have to go back later.


MR. REINER:  Other changes we are making -- so we are not --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Hang on a second.  So now I have to hear the whole list?  Is that what you're saying, Mr. Keizer?


MR. KEIZER:  You asked the question:  What are you doing to deal with the "very much at risk" aspects of this report.  He is telling you that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And I can't ask clarification of each point as he makes it?


MR. KEIZER:  Yeah, but he has a right to answer the question that you asked him, and he is answering that question.  I think that is called fairness, is it not?  You have asked a question; let the witness answer the question.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, it's called preventing us from getting our answers.  Anyway, you go ahead, Mr. Reiner, by all means.


MR. REINER:  So other changes that we are making as part of getting to the level of schedule and class of estimate that's needed to support a full release under our business case process, we are going to ensure that engineering is advanced far enough towards completion of detailed design to increase our confidence on what that final estimate is going to be.  So that is a change that is being incorporated actually into our gated process.


We are also now in process of rolling out earned value management systems and reports across all of these projects.  The refurbishment projects that are executed post-breaker open, we have got an earned value management capability in place that defines a structured way of breaking down the work and rules towards earning completions of work.


That same methodology is now being applied across these projects as well.  So that's a change in how the project and modifications organization previously managed their projects.  So that's in the process of being rolled out.


We are also going to provide, for these specific reports or these specific projects, we are going to provide monthly reports to our nuclear oversight committee to track progress.  And we are also implementing a process -- and we do this already on the refurbishment projects, the proposed breaker open projects -- review meetings with the contractors, that include not only the project management teams.  Those are in place already.  We have instituted those.  We do weekly project meetings with the contractor.


We are also going to elevate those on a periodic basis to CEO level, to get the two CEOs, the contractor and our CEO, sitting together to review the projects.  And that will be done on a quarterly basis.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And none of these things sound very unusual to me.  What were you doing before?  Please go back through the whole list.


MR. REINER:  The project organization, so for the refurbishment projects and the post breaker open projects, this is exactly the model that we were executing before.


For the projects and modifications organization, that's not the model that was previously executed.  And it isn't, because the projects and modifications organization typically executes a large portfolio of small projects, and they tend to be -- they don't tend to be as sophisticated as these projects that we have asked the projects and modifications organization to execute. 


So in recognition of these gaps, we are implementing this process to the projects that warrant that.  We don't need to have a CEO-level review meeting for a million-dollar modification to a small plant system.  So it's being applied to these critical projects and the large projects.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So no, what I asked you was:  For this list of, what, eight or ten things that you said you are doing now, for each one, what were you doing before? 


MR. REINER:  The previous model, there was reporting.  What hadn't been done -- so there weren't engineers embedded with the contractor, so that wasn't done.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So how were you managing the engineering?


MR. REINER:  The engineering was being done through a submittal process.  So as the work was concluded, a set of documents would get submitted to OPG.  OPG would review the documents, and as part of our design authority role, we would review those documents and assess whether or not the engineering met the needs.  And then comments would be sent back.  So it was a formal transmittal process, with documents being sent back and forth.


So that process has essentially been collapsed into an in-flight review process.  So that is the change that was made there. 


On the CEO-level meetings, there weren't previously CEO-level meetings with the contractor doing this work, so that's new.  That will be implemented.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that your, like, real CEO or the CEO of DRP? 


MR. REINER:  That's Tom Mitchell, the CEO of OPG.  He is a real CEO.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And he's the CEO of AECL and the CEO of Black --


MR. REINER:  And it will be the CEO of Black & McDonald, and it will be Bruce and -- it will be Bruce McDonald for Black & McDonald.  And we do that already with the other projects, so the retube and feeder replacement, for example, there is a -- we meet about three times a year with the Aecon CEO, the SNC-Lavalin CEO, and Tom Mitchell.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So is that it?


Let me go on to page 14.  Mr. Gould, you had a concern about how risk management was approached, and this isn't, by the way, just project and modifications, right?  There is a risk-management issue on the main project side as well, or there was, right?


MR. GOULD:  We see an evolution of risk management on refurbishment --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. GOULD:  -- that we have commented on previously.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And you said here risk management needs immediate attention, and you talked about some things that they should do to ensure that they manage risks more effectively; right?


MR. GOULD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And these look to me like pretty standard practice type things.  You are not telling them to do anything unusual, right?


MR. GOULD:  What are you referring to?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, so, for example, you should have formalized risk training for people in your organization.  Don't most organizations -- the job is project management 
-- don't they normally have risk training?


MR. GOULD:  It depends on the level of training that you are talking about.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Okay.  So things like managing risks on a day-to-day basis, isn't that normal?


MR. GOULD:  It's part of project management that you would evaluate risks on a day-to-day basis.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And if you had a contractor you would want to know what their risk management process is?


MR. GOULD:  Depends on the contract model, sir.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh.  Are there situations in which you don't care how they manage risks?


MR. GOULD:  There are situations when the owner is not entitled to understand the contractor's risk when you have a firm fixed-price contract.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so is that what we have here?  They weren't -- OPG wasn't entitled?


MR. GOULD:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So --


MR. GOULD:  I didn't say that.  You asked me a very general question.  I gave you a very general response.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I am trying to understand this situation.


MR. GOULD:  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Help me.


MR. GOULD:  So should they have known about the contractor's risks?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. GOULD:  We say that they should have, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So if you go to page 15 of this report it says -- you see where it says "campus plan projects will require a full rebaseline of cost and schedule", so this is May 13th.  So we heard that some of those have already been redone, but I heard Mr. Rose say -- and maybe I misunderstood -- that they are not doing a rebaseline of all these costs and schedules; is that right?


MR. GOULD:  So we made a recommendation that they do a full reforecast.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. GOULD:  I think maybe the difference between my answer earlier and Mr. Rose's answer is a timing issue. I think what Mr. Rose was trying to say, and I will let him speak for himself, was that the gate process that these projects each have to go through represents an opportunity for reforecasting of the costs and the schedule --


MR. SHEPHERD:  When is the next gate?


MR. GOULD:  -- and -- depends on which project you are talking about.  They're --


MR. SHEPHERD:  They vary.


MR. GOULD:  They vary.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  You also made a recommendation, you see, right in the end of that section, just before RQE preparation.  It says:

"We recommend that the DR team perform a detailed self-assessment that considers the ways in which the campus-plan project's management failures might apply to refurbishment."


So my first question for you, Mr. Reiner, is has that been done?


MR. REINER:  It has, and it's not a single self-assessment.  On each -- many of these areas, we have a corrective action program.  It's a very active program.  It's part of our management system.  And as issues get identified they get logged, corrective actions get taken, and that's part of the process.


We do self-assessments in a variety of different areas.  We have done self-assessments in the areas of risk management.  We have done self-assessments in the areas of scheduling.  So there isn't a single one.


What we have done, however, in response to sort of the culmination of the issues that we are seeing here, we have embarked on an independent external review as part of our corrective-action program.


So it is an assessment that is being done by a third party, not necessarily an expert in any particular field other than doing self-assessments, to understand what the real root causes are that are contributing to these problems so that we can identify the appropriate corrective actions and implement those actions.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that is happening right now.


MR. REINER:  And that is happening right now.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have a deadline for when that is to be finished?


MR. REINER:  I am expecting a report by end of July, and based on that report we will then sit and look at what actions we need to implement to -- that we haven't already addressed as part of our responses to this that still need to be addressed.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you tell me who is doing it, or is it confidential?


MR. REINER:  No, it's not confidential.  I would have to get you the company name.  I don't know offhand, but --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you do that?


MR. REINER:  -- we can do that during the break.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, let's take an undertaking, and we will get it when we get it.


MR. KEIZER:  That's fine.


MR. MILLAR:  JT3.6. 
UNDERTAKING NO. JT3.6:  TO PROVIDE THE NAME OF THE INDIVIDUAL WHO IS DOING THE REPORT.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  You had to go back to your nuclear oversight committee of the board of directors last -- on the 26th; right?  Did you appear, Mr. Reiner?


MR. REINER:  Yes, I did.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so did you, Mr. Gould.


MR. GOULD:  Yes, sir.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you made a report to them, Mr. Reiner, of your own self-assessment, where you were in this, right?


MR. REINER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And can we see that, please?


MR. REINER:  Yes, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Good.  And --


MR. MILLAR:  JT3.7. 
UNDERTAKING NO. JT3.7:  TO PROVIDE MR. REINER'S REPORT OF HIS OWN SELF-ASSESSMENT.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And as part of that, Mr. Gould, you delivered this June 26th report to that committee, but presumably you also provided them with a summary, a PowerPoint or something like that, right?


MR. GOULD:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No?  Just this.


MR. GOULD:  A verbal summary.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So it was just this report plus a verbal summary.


MR. GOULD:  Yes, sir.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thank you.


Then you have something, Mr. Reiner, called the program management plan.  Can you tell us what that is?


MR. ROSE:  The program management plan is actually a set of plans that describe how we are managing the DRP as a whole.  They are actually in our evidence under attachment 4.  There is a number of attachments, 4-1, 4-2, et cetera, which together culminate the overall program management plan.


Each of those attachments focus on a subject matter.  Example, 4-3 focus on program cost management, 4-4 on schedule management.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Ah, that's what those are.  Those are the up-to-date ones.  Those are the ones you are using right now.


Now, Mr. Gould, you said that there is some problems with that, right?


MR. GOULD:  We've seen that there are some gaps in the program management plan.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So what action is being taken to address those gaps?


MR. GOULD:  Would you like me to address that, or...


MR. SHEPHERD:  Either is fine.


MR. ROSE:  Wherever there is a finding in Modus, as Mr. Reiner described, we take the Modus report.  As a management team we get together, we assess the report, we identify the areas where improvements are necessary, we log those improvements into our action database, we assign somebody to make those improvements, and we track them until they are complete.  Some of those improvements may be an update to the risk management plan.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I am now looking at attachment A to this report.  And this is a sort of a dashboard, I guess you would say, of the risks of the refurbishment project; right?


MR. GOULD:  Can I -- so you were skipping back and forth between two different reports, so are we back on the May 13th report?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, yeah, no, I am still on May 13th.  I haven't got to June yet.


MR. GOULD:  Okay.  Let me get there.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So do you have that?  Attachment A.  It's the one with the arrows.


MR. GOULD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And I just have two questions about this.  The first is SNC-Aecon, that's AECL, right?  They are listed as moving from high risk to lower.


And I know most of the stuff related to this is redacted, but what can you say on the record about how that risk is being reduced right now?


MR. GOULD:  We see that they are making good progress in the definition phase.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Do they have -- one of the things that we were concerned -- that you were concerned with was their level 3 estimate, the timing of it, right?


MR. GOULD:  The class 3 estimate.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, class 3.  Class 3, level 3, I am confused.


Is any of that part non-confidential?  Can you talk about that a little bit, where you are on that?


MR. GOULD:  I think we are kind of on the edge.


MR. REINER:  That's directed at me, I am assuming?


MR. SHEPHERD:  All of the above.


MR. REINER:  We have the class 3 estimate.  It has been delivered. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay. 


MR. REINER:  So since that report was written, the class 3 estimate has been delivered to OPG. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But you have problems with it?


MR. REINER:  No, I wouldn't characterize it as we have problems with it.  It's a class 3 estimate.  We recognize it as such.


Now we are in process of working on a class 2 estimate.  That is where we need to get to in order to get to release quality.


So we don't have problems with the estimate.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I thought, Mr. Gould, that you said somewhere that you had a problem with the class 3 estimate.


MR. GOULD:  No.  I said that we were raising some red flags about the speed in which it was being prepared, and that we were concerned that perhaps the quality might suffer from that.


However, I concur with Mr. Reiner that the class 3 estimate was delivered on time.  And from our standpoint, we believe it meets the requirements.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is an actual class 3 estimate?


MR. GOULD:  We believe so, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  We will come back to that in the confidential stuff.


And then what is RWPB? 


MR. REINER:  That is re-tube waste processing building.  So that's a -- that building will house equipment that takes the components that are removed from the reactor, and cuts them up and deposits them into storage containers.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is low-level nuclear waste?


MR. REINER:  Intermediate-level nuclear waste.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Intermediate?  And it says:

"Facing similar problems that have plagued campus plan projects."


It's not part of the campus plan, right?


MR. REINER:  It is not part of the campus plan.  And facing similar -- I will let Mr. Gould comment on what his words mean, but I will just provide you some general comments about facilities at the site.


Any facility that is constructed at the site encounters challenges, and challenges primarily because there are a lot of buried services that are not documented on drawings.  Typical with construction sites, leftover construction materials typically get buried.  When you dig and you run into a piece of cable, you have to -- and that piece of cable doesn't show up anywhere on a drawing to tell you what it is, you have to assess whether it's energized or de-energized in order to ensure that the work can get executed safely.  So that project will be faced with similar challenges.


In this particular case, we don't see the issue as being quite as significant.  Again, this is now -- this is not Mr. Gould's assessment, this is my assessment.  We do not see the challenge as significant as with the other facilities, because that specific area that that building is being constructed on had been previously identified as a site for a different facility, and so a lot of the boreholes were drilled.  So we have a fairly good idea of what's in the ground; we don't see it as a huge problem.


There was one other element of risk that had contributed to initial delays, and that was associated with the -- this particular facility is an integral part of the re-tube process.  You pull out a pressure tube, it goes in a flask and makes its way to this facility.  It gets chopped.  It gets put into a container.


If you had a problem with the storage container process, you could essentially put the re-tube job on hold.  What we are looking at is to mitigate that risk, and so we are looking at enhancements in that facility that allow us to do some stockpiling of flasks that contain components, so that we don't impact production on the reactor face if there is an issue with the equipment in this facility.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So can I just stop you and understand that?  Because this is complicated for me.


You originally planning to do it on sort of a just-in-time basis?  Stuff would come out, it would get chopped up.


MR. REINER:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  There was no storage.  It would be like a flow, like an assembly line?


MR. REINER:  Like a flow, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you are saying:  Well, the problem is that then it becomes a critical path element.  And to avoid that, you want to have a sort of a storage area that would allow you to stockpile some stuff until you get something fixed and then catch up, right?


MR. REINER:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I understand.  I would have thought that was the normal way to do it in the first place.  Was it not done that way to save money?


MR. REINER:  Not necessarily.  In all the previous re-tubes, the waste processing was actually done on the reactor face in serial, exactly as you would have thought it's not the way to do it.  That is how each re-tube has been done to date.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And it costs you money?


MR. REINER:  And it costs you money, because you essentially are subject to the risk of equipment that doesn't have to be on critical path.  That is the opportunity we are looking at right now, and because of that, that has impacted our schedule for building the facility.


We do not see this impacting the overall critical path of the project or the re-tube project.  It's just a change to address a specific risk that we had flagged.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you tell me the original budget and in-service date of that facility, and the current budget and in-service date of that facility?


MR. REINER:  That facility, we don't have an original budget and in-service date.  The details of that facility are being developed as part of the definition phase work, so the budget is being developed on the basis of what I have just described here:  What does the facility need to contain in order to meet its ultimate end purpose?  So the ability to stockpile.


There was no estimate put together that said:  Let's start with this and then we'll make some changes and enhance it.  The estimate is being developed now exactly as we have described, the changes that we have made with these other projects.  The estimate is being developed as we are progressing through understanding what the requirements are.


With that information, we will then produce a specific schedule for that facility.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I am now I am confused, because I thought you had a class 4 or, in some cases, class 3 or 5 estimate for all the aspects of the Darlington refurbishment project; don't you? 


MR. REINER:  No, we do have is a class 3 estimate, yes.  And this is part of that class 3 estimate.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So don't you have a number for it, then?


MR. REINER:  We have a number, but it's not -- you know, there is no business case for this like there is for the other projects.  This is part of the re-tube and feeder replacement project; it's part of that estimate.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am just wondering if there is a component that is, you know -- out of the whatever, $4 billion for the RFR, 280 million is that particular component, and it was originally 108 and now it's 280?


I mean, are we talking those sorts of numbers? 


MR. REINER:  No.  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Much smaller? 


MR. REINER:  We would have to give you that detail in the confidential session, because we now getting into point estimates on specific projects.


MR. SHEPHERD:  We will come back to that, then.  All right.


I then just have a few questions on the June 26th report.  And there is a comment in here somewhere that you had new members of your board of directors, so that you wanted to bring them up to date; is that fair? 


MR. REINER:  That's fair, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But I guess my impression of this report is that -- and you can tell me whether this is wrong.  I just am trying to understand whether this is correct.  This is quite a different tone from the May 13th report.  The May 13th report appeared to be:  Oh, no, we are all going to die.  And this report is like:  No, no, we are all okay, but -- we are handling the problems.


Was there some communication to you, Mr. Gould, to say:  We need a report that is more contextual, that gives a broader perspective of what's happening, rather than just doom and gloom?


MR. GOULD:  So let me explain, rather than -- let me explain the circumstances, rather than respond to the question, if I may.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, that's good. 


MR. GOULD:  So after the nuclear oversight committee meeting on May 13th there was a full board meeting.  I believe it was two days later.  After discussing -- after that meeting -- that's not something that I typically attend -- after discussing the reaction --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, and you didn't attend --


MR. GOULD:  No, I do not typically attend the full board meetings.


After hearing -- after having some discussion with Mr. Robinson and Mr. Reiner, it was apparent that there was some -- there were some concerns on the part of the board, which we expected.  We saw that as well in the nuclear oversight committee meeting.  The project team was given a specific task of responding to the May 13th report, and we were advised at that time by management that we may also be asked by the board or by the nuclear oversight committee of the board to provide our own assessment of how things have progressed since the delivery of the last report.


We were essentially in the process of doing that anyways for the upcoming August board meeting.  That was a year since we delivered our initial project assessment, and we thought that that was appropriate for then.


Subsequent to those initial discussions I had discussion with the chairman of the nuclear oversight committee, and he explained that it would be a good idea for us to provide what is discussed in here as an extent-of-condition analysis.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, say that again?


MR. GOULD:  Extent-of-condition analysis, which in nuclear-speak means how big of a problem is it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So do I understand correctly that both the nuclear oversight committee and the board of directors read your May 13th report as a bit doom and gloom, and they were worried, and they responded by saying, We need more information?


MR. GOULD:  I am sorry, the characterization that you are giving of doom and gloom is a bit troubling to me.  I would say that they were concerned that there were some vibrant allegations or vibrant concerns identified and --


MR. SHEPHERD:  You prefer vibrant to doom and gloom.  Okay.  Go ahead.


MR. GOULD:  Maybe perhaps coloured red, red flags.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, okay.  And so did you have any written communication from OPG as to what should be included in the June 26th report?


MR. GOULD:  As to what should be included in the report?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. GOULD:  To the best of my recollection, no, sir.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Because this is an exceptional report.  This is not one of your normal reports; right?


MR. GOULD:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so -- and it paints a lot more context than the other reports, which are very sort of point-in-time items; right?


MR. GOULD:  Which was the precise goal of this report, to sort of bring the new board members and also the chair -- I should add that the chair of the nuclear oversight committee also turned over recently, so my boss changed as well very recently, so going back in time to explain how -- everything that we have looked at up to this point was seen as a priority for us for this -- for the June 26th meeting.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so as far as you know, all of your instructions as to this report, as to the preparation of this report, were verbal.  None of them were in writing.  Is that right?


MR. GOULD:  I -- I guess the instruction -- the word "instruction" is also troubling to me.  There were some recommendations made to us by the nuclear oversight committee chair and by management to discuss certain areas with more focus.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And are those things in writing?


MR. GOULD:  To the best of my recollection as I sit here right now, I believe that that was verbal.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Here is what I am going to ask.  Can you undertake to take a look and see if you had any recommendations or instructions with respect to this report in writing?


MR. GOULD:  I can.  And I can tell you -- I am not trying to parse words here, sir, but --


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I understand.


MR. GOULD:  -- I want to make sure that I am being very accurate in assessing this.  I discussed earlier that we have an obligation within our approach that we inform management of our reports, and part of that obligation is to inform whoever the senior VP at the time -- now it's Mr. Reiner -- of our conclusions, so there was -- there was some communication around some earlier drafts, where some of those things were discussed, but I don't want to give you the impression or give anybody the impression that anybody told us what to put in our reports.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am going to come to that communication in a second, but I take it that what you are saying is not that Mr. Reiner directs what you do, because he doesn't, but rather that he shouldn't see what you're -- the recommendations you are making for the first time when you are making it to the board committee.


MR. GOULD:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  In fairness, he should know about it in advance.  He should --


MR. GOULD:  He should know about it in an advance.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- have the answers before he comes into the committee.


MR. GOULD:  And there have been times when in discussion of how we were going to approach issues in front of the committee, where we realized that there may have been some things that we needed to go back and look at and make sure that they were absolutely correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, those communications about your drafts for this June 26th reports, those are in e-mails, right, primarily?


MR. REINER:  Are you talking between management and -- no, we have meetings, and the Modus folks meet with me.  They talk about what they are seeing, what they are observing.  They talk about what is going to be in their report.  There is no e-mails that document, here is -- here are the recommendations that we say -- in the meeting we discuss a draft of the report, and it gives me an opportunity to understand what the issues are, prepare for a response in the event the board drills deeper.  It also gives me an opportunity to challenge what the Modus team see, for example.


There are times where, you know, I will say, Are you sure about that?  Have you looked at this?  Have you looked at that?  Can you go back and look in another area and then come back and tell me what you saw?

So that is the intent behind that discussion.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I thought you said, Mr. Gould -- I asked you whether there was anything in writing, and you said, well, there is drafts back and forth and comments on the draft, so I thought you were saying that there was stuff in writing there.


MR. GOULD:  No, I believe there was -- we shared a draft, but we didn't get back a redline of that draft.  We had a discussion about it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And then you modified the draft?


MR. GOULD:  In some cases we may have made some modifications, but I don't believe that they were substantial.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Shepherd, there was an undertaking given now a few minutes ago that we neglected to assign a number to.  This was -- Mr. Gould was going to look to see if there were any written instructions.  That's JT3.8. 

UNDERTAKING NO. JT3.8:  TO LOOK TO SEE IF THERE WERE ANY WRITTEN INSTRUCTIONS.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  And I am getting close to the end, but I thought I would try to finish before lunch if I can.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, we were looking around 12:45, but how much longer will you be?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't think I will make 12:45, but --


MR. MILLAR:  Before 1:00?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Before 1:00, yes.


On page 3 of your June 26th report, Mr. Gould, there is a graphic at the top.  You see where it says "initiation phase", "definition phase", et cetera?  Now, that's not your work, right?  That's OPG's work --


MR. REINER:  That's correct.  That's OPG's work.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, Mr. Gould is -- I am directing these questions specifically to Mr. Gould.


MR. GOULD:  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that -- although it's in your report, you made clear that that's actually from OPG; right?


MR. GOULD:  That's correct.  The same graphic is in our initial assessment from August of 2013.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that.  Can you identify what else in this report is not your work, is OPG's work?


MR. GOULD:  If you give me -- I believe that the next graphic that we --


MR. SHEPHERD:  So what I am going ask you to do is, can you undertake to go through this report and identify anything that is not your work?


MR. GOULD:  I'll be happy to do that, but I can tell you that -- I will be happy to do that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  JT3.9. 

UNDERTAKING NO. JT3.9:  TO GO THROUGH THE REPORT AND IDENTIFY ANYTHING THAT IS NOT MR. GOULD'S WORK.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then if you take a look at page 7, you see this 2Q-2014 revised BCS is presented to board of directors for approval for campus plan projects.

First of all, is this what you were talking about earlier, Mr. Rose, the May meeting?


MR. ROSE:  That is correct.  Specifically to auxiliary heating system, we took that one to the May meeting.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, this says there's three of them, that you took to the --

MR. ROSE:  That is correct.  The specific conversation we had earlier was in relation to the auxiliary heating system project.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you didn't have D2O storage at that point?


MR. ROSE:  That's correct, and it says that in here.  It says that we're working on that for the August board meeting, and this is correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so then you deferred your request for funds.  What does that mean?  You don't have any more money on that?


MR. ROSE:  No, the project is not out of money.  The project is progressing along.  They have funds for the work that they are doing right now.  They are preparing an estimate of what it is going to take to complete that job.


But we are -- this project is not out of money, out of funds, today.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Page 11, at the top, it says -- and we talked about this a little bit earlier, Mr. Reiner:

"The DR team has a complementary process through which it a documenting our recommendations and providing the team's actions needed to close out those concerns."


That's a periodic report you do on what Burns & McDonnell and Modus have recommended and what you are doing about it, right?


MR. REINER:  It's an ongoing process.  There's a database that has all of the actions captured and owners assigned and dates assigned.  As the actions get closed, the database gets updated, so there is an ongoing process.


And Modus do also provide updates on where management is at with respect to addressing the gaps.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Okay.  And so -- and presumably you report on this to the nuclear oversight committee?


MR. GOULD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so we already got an undertaking from you to provide your report from June 26th.  That will have a report like that in it, right?  Here is what was recommended, here is what we are doing about it?


MR. REINER:  Yes, that's -- I undertook to provide that, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  And Mr. Gould, you don't use PowerPoints when you make presentations, right?


MR. GOULD:  No, sir.  Not typically.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Not typically?  Right.


You are the one who generally presents to management and to the nuclear oversight committee?


MR. GOULD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And I just have two more areas, I think.


The first is there is a list attached to your initial project assessment report.  The document is entitled:  "Attachment A, OPG project document index"; do you have that?


MR. GOULD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's 28 pages of documents.


MR. GOULD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So there is -- first of all, I wonder if you can undertake -- this is an ongoing list that you keep, right?  Not you, Mr. Gould, but Mr. Reiner that keeps this list, right?


MR. REINER:  I am just trying to find -- what page number are you on here?


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's the attachment to the initial project assessment report, attachment A.


MR. REINER:  This is not my report.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, so this list is not -- you didn't produce this list?


MR. REINER:  I mean, the list is a factual list, but it's Modus's list.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, it's your list?


MR. GOULD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So do you have an update of this list?


MR. GOULD:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you have seen lots more documents since then?


MR. GOULD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you haven't put them on a list?


MR. GOULD:  I haven't seen a purpose or a need to.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you are going to do a one-year assessment for the August meeting, right?


MR. GOULD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Isn't that going to include a new list?


MR. GOULD:  Hadn't thought about that yet, sir.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so I have just a couple of these that I want to ask about.


The first is on page 4 of this.  It's a document dated February 1st, 2011.  This is actually, I guess, two documents related to each other.


But one is the "Scope review board terms of reference"; do we have that in the evidence somewhere?


MR. ROSE:  I would have to go back and check.  I believe this was filed in our in evidence in the last hearing, but we can go back and check if it's not filed and refile that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's actually not that document that's most important to me.  It's the next one, the scope management plan.


MR. ROSE:  The scope management plan is in our evidence, getting back to attachment 4.  Remember we talked about it a little bit?


MR. SHEPHERD:  That is what those are?


MR. ROSE:  It's a sub-component of our program management plan.


MR. REINER:  It's 4-2.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's part of the program management plan, is the scope management plan?


MR. REINER:  It's 4-2.  It's a separate document.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Excellent.  Then the next one is -- you see it's July 25th, 2012.  It's on the next page, the nuclear refurbishment cost estimate.  And you have a whole lot of cost estimates along the way, right?  But this is a full estimate of the whole project, right?  From July 25th, 2012?


MR. ROSE:  I don't know specifically what that document refers to from the title itself.  This is not my list.  I am not certain if it's --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, maybe, Mr. Gould, you could tell me what you think that is.


MR. GOULD:  I am also struggling.  We've seen an awful lot of documents over the last --


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's a numbered document, right?


MR. ROSE:  I believe because it's a "man," "N-man," it's the procedure on how we do cost estimating.  "Man" stands for manual, so it would be a direction, not an estimate itself.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's not a number, it's a way?


MR. ROSE:  The methodology.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, then I don't want it.


MR. REINER:  Numbers are in the business cases.  The business case was filed in evidence in 221.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I understand.


On that same page near the bottom, it says "BOP," which is, I guess, balance of plan, right?


MR. ROSE:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  "Pre-refurbishment key milestones," dated February 28th, 2013.  What's that document?


MR. GOULD:  Offhand I can't tell you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could undertake to provide that?


MR. GOULD:  Sure.


MR. MILLAR:  JT3.10. 

UNDERTAKING NO. JT3.10:  TO PROVIDE DOCUMENT ENTITLED "BOP PR milestones 2013/03/28", described as "All pre-refurbishment key milestones"


MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, which one is it, Jay?


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is the document BOP PR milestones 2013/03/28.  It's described as "all pre-refurbishment key milestones."


MR. KEIZER:  I see it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The next one is from the next page, page 6, and it's two documents, "G1-11 2013-2026 cash flows" and "G1-11 2013-2025 resource plan."  These, I think, are both dated April 15th, 2013, and these will have dollars and schedules in them, won't they?


And anybody can feel free to answer.


MR. ROSE:  Again, sorry, just the follow-on, the G-11 2013-2025 cash flows and resource plan?


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.


MR. ROSE:  We would have to look at what those are.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you undertake to provide those, please?


MR. KEIZER:  We want to see what they are first.  We don't even know what they are.


MR. ROSE:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I guess you can always say that, having looked at them, you decided that it wasn't appropriate to file them, but in the meantime I am asking for an undertaking.  It's your evidence.


MR. MILLAR:  JT 3.11, and that is to provide the document or explain why it won't be provided.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT3.11:  TO PROVIDE two documents, "G1-11 2013-2026 cash flows" and "G1-11 2013-2025 resource plan"  dated April 15th, 2013, OR EXPLAIN WHY THEY CANNOT BE PROVIDED.


MR. KEIZER:  Fine.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Now, the next one is the document "16-315-55, full execution release," April 19th, GRB distribution."  Can you just sort of give me an estimation of -- sorry?


MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, Jay, where are you?


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's the same page, same page, about two-thirds of the way down.  The document number is 1631555.  You see that?  So that's a business case summary; right?


MR. ROSE:  It may be.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And Mr. Rose, do you recognize what that is?


MR. ROSE:  I believe it is a business case summary.  I am trying to look quickly to see which project it is.  I don't recognize the number offhand.  It may be one that we filed.  We would have to review again, and I don't have these documents memorized --


MR. SHEPHERD:  What is GRB?


MR. REINER:  Gate review board.


MR. ROSE:  Gate review board.  So it would have been the material that went before our gate review board prior to being recommended to the board for approval.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Ah, okay.  And this is April 19th, 2011, right?  Looks like.


MR. GOULD:  There is no date specified here.


MR. REINER:  There is no date there.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I am going to ask you to provide that.  Same caveat, of course, that you may find that it's not appropriate, but I am going to ask you to provide that.


MR. ROSE:  Or in this case it may already be filed, and we will clarify that as well.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That would be great.


MR. KEIZER:  With the same caveat, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  JT3.12.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT3.12:  TO PROVIDE THE document numbered 1631555 described as "Business case summary" or if not, to explain why not.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And then I am looking at page 9, OPG org strategy study plan, Faithful and Gould report.  Now, that is filed, right, somewhere in this proceeding; is that right?  Can somebody tell me?


MR. GOULD:  About the middle of the page?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. ROSE:  Again, under the same caveat.  I don't know exactly what this document is by memory.  We would have to look at it, understand what it is, and assess its relevance and ability to provide to you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I thought it was actually already filed, but I just can't find it.


MR. ROSE:  It might be, but I don't --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, let's do it on the same basis then.  3.13.


MR. MILLAR:  JT3.13.  

UNDERTAKING NO. JT3.13:  TO PROVIDE document described at page 9 as "OPG ORG STRATEGY STUDY PLAN, FAITHFUL AND GOULD REPORT".


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And I know there was another one here...  And then the last one is -- I think it's the last one.  Yes.  Is on page 23, about three-quarters of the way down.  It says:

"Darlington integrated master schedule critical paths before October 15th, 2016."


It's a document dated January 31st, 2013.  So before I ask you to file this, is that a document that has been updated since then, do you know?


MR. ROSE:  I'd have to go back and look at the document.  I have an idea what I believe this document is.  If it's the critical path to breaker, we would update on a periodic basis, yes, but again, I would undertake to look and understand what the document is and ask that question.  I am not certain --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, here is what I am asking for.  Can we have either that document or the most recent version of it, because I don't actually care about the 2013 version of it, but I do care about the new version of it, if you could, and I understand that it will probably be confidential.


MR. KEIZER:  So on the same basis.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, yeah.


MR. KEIZER:  And I am not sure, actually, whether we are talking about two pages or 2,000 pages, so we will have to take that into account as well.


MR. MILLAR:  JT3.14. 

UNDERTAKING NO. JT3.14:  TO PROVIDE DOCUMENT ENTITLED "DARLINGTON INTEGRATED MASTER SCHEDULE CRITICAL PATHS BEFORE OCTOBER 15TH, 2016", or the most recent version of it


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's like a Gantt chart or something, isn't it?


MR. ROSE:  It's likely a Visio of sorts, of the major critical path streams.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then my last area is, if I can find it, is your fourth-quarter 2013 report dated November 12th.  Mr. Gould, there is attached to it attachment B, which is a variance report, 4B to 4C cost estimates.  Do you see that?


MR. GOULD:  Yes, sir.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do we have this table that is not the variances but the actual numbers, the 4C numbers?  Because this table is simply two other spreadsheets.  It's the difference between the two; right?


MR. GOULD:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So can I have the 4C table that's just like this?  It may be in the evidence, and if it is, just tell me.



MR. REINER:  That is in the business case that we filed.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The full thing or a summary?  Because I found a summary.  I didn't see this, but maybe I missed it.


MR. GOULD:  I believe this is something that we created, so -- to compare the two.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  So then Mr. Gould, can you provide the 4C version of this with the 4C numbers in it?


MR. GOULD:  I am not sure what you are asking me to do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I ask you -- this is a variance between two spreadsheets, one with 4B and one with 4C, right?  So this is the variances.  I would like the 4C numbers.


MR. REINER:  Yeah, the -- so this format is the way that we break the estimate down in our business case.  So the business case that was filed in the 221 will have these numbers.  Now, it may be rolled up slightly from this, but it will be pretty close to this breakdown, so when we are in the in camera session we could have a look at that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Okay.  That's good, that's good, thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  We will break now for lunch.  When we return we will go to Mr. Elson.


Let's begin promptly at two o'clock.


--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:57 p.m.

--- On resuming at 2:00 p.m.

MR. MILLAR:  Good afternoon.  Why don't we get started?  From the time estimates we have before us, it looks like we have a little bit less than two hours of non-confidential materials, so we should at minimum be able to get through that today.


Mr. Elson, are you ready to proceed?
Questions by Mr. Elson:

MR. ELSON:  Yes, thank you.


I perhaps should introduce myself to the panel.  My name is Kent Elson and I represent Environmental Defence. I hope to be very brief today.  I have two quick --


MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, we had one undertaking response we were going to give, I think.


MR. REINER:  Yes.  Just a follow-up from this morning, my apologies.  So Undertaking JT3.6, the question was asked who the firm is that is doing the root cause analysis, and it is a company.  The initials are AEMRI, and that stands for the Adult Education and Management Research Institute.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  My first line of questions is just at a very, very basic level about the campus plan project.  I understand from your evidence that the variance is going to turn out to be between 200 and $300 million; is that right?


MR. REINER:  Yes.  That's correct.


MR. ELSON:  I heard this morning a number of 260; is that your best estimate so far?


MR. ROSE:  That is our estimate today, as we updated our evidence found in D2-2-2.


MR. ELSON:  And that's -- is that test period or overall?


MR. ROSE:  That is overall.  The majority of that cost variance is within the test period -- actually, let me correct that, because of the D2O, in-service now is actually going into 2016, the majority of it is not in the test period.


MR. ELSON:  And what was the original estimate for the campus plan project?  So 260 is getting added on to what?


MR. REINER:  I think this level of cost breakdown was redacted in our business case submissions, so this would have to go to the in camera discussion, but we can provide that.


MR. ELSON:  Can you provide a reference and I'll just look it up?  That would be the best way to do it.


MR. ROSE:  In fact, our estimates are in the business case under D2-2-1, attachment 5.  There is actually a table that shows a line item of the facility and infrastructure projects, and provides this estimate that -- as we provided in 2009 and the latest estimate.  On top of that, we would add the 2- to 300 or current point of 260 to that number.


MR. ELSON:  I believe in the Modus report there is a number listed in the unredacted version of 552 million; is that the number?


MR. ROSE:  That is in the right range, yes.


MR. ELSON:  That's in the right range?


So what we are talking about is -- page 16.


MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, of which report, Mr. Elson?


MS. GIRVAN:  The June 26th report on page 16 has the original estimate of -- the 4C estimate of 552 million and the current forecast of 824 million.


MR. ELSON:  So are those the current numbers that you are working with?


MR. ROSE:  These are Modus's numbers that they had provided at that point in time.  They are reasonably close to ours, but our -- I can't attest to the fact that they are exactly the same as ours.


MR. ELSON:  Well, let's just say it's approximately a 50 percent increase; is that right?


MR. ROSE:  It's in the right range.  Correct.


MR. ELSON:  So who will bear the cost of that cost overrun, OPG customers or the shareholder?


MR. REINER:  That cost is still within the total refurbishment project cost that we have declared, so even with this cost increase, we are still within that $10 billion total cost of refurbishment.


MR. ELSON:  That wasn't quite my question.  Holding everything else constant, what we have now is an increase of approximately $260 million.  Who would bear those costs, the consumers or the shareholder?


MR. REINER:  We would expect to recover all of the costs associated with refurbishment, including this cost.  And I think as part of that, we just need to, again, characterize the costs appropriately.  I just want to, for a second -- you know, it's a cost overrun in the sense that an estimate was put forth before the scope of the project was understood.  The cost, the final cost is reflective of the scope of work.  The scope of work is all value-added work that is required as part of refurbishment and required as part of ongoing operations of Darlington.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  And by saying, of course, that you will recover all the costs that is from the consumer, of course, through rates?


MR. REINER:  That would be from the consumer, yes.


MR. ELSON:  If I could ask the panel to turn up JT2.2, and if that could be put on the screen.  So this undertaking response provides a breakdown of the costs of the DRP.  Now, where did the campus plan project fit in here?  Is that under "Facilities and infrastructure"?


MR. ROSE:  Yes, that is correct.


MR. ELSON:  And could you provide an updated copy of this table that accounts for the variances in the campus plan project, and I guess any other variances that have occurred or been uncovered since this table was produced?


MR. ROSE:  So just to repeat back, it's an undertaking to update this table with the latest cost estimates for the refurbishment?


MR. ELSON:  Thank you, yes.  And also to include interest and escalation.


MR. MILLAR:  JT3.15. 

UNDERTAKING NO. JT3.15:  to provide the total cost of the DRP, including the capitalized interest and escalation in 2014, assuming a 50, 100 percent, 150, 200 and 250 percent cost overruns with respect to all of OPG project management cost, contractor costs and other costs; in other words, to apply those scenarios to all of the costs listed in the chart in JT2.2.


MR. ELSON:  Now, if you turn to page 2 of this undertaking response, on page 2 there is a table listing some cost overrun scenarios, but if you look at bullet B, it says that the 50 percent cost overrun scenario is applied to selected projects.


And if you could turn back to page 1 of this undertaking and tell me which of the costs shown on this page are sort of factored into that 50 percent cost overrun scenario, so which of these costs was used or was there applied a 50 percent cost overrun?


MR. ROSE:  It's difficult for me to respond because there are some sub-elements or sub-components of the costs that we would have included -- we would have not included in the 50 percent growth.


So as an example, within the RNFR, there is tooling fixed-price contract.  We would not have applied the growth to that, but we would have applied the growth to the target price components.  We would have applied that methodology throughout this estimate here.


MR. ELSON:  Would you have applied it to the OPG project management amounts?


MR. ROSE:  We would not have -- I would have to recall.  I don't believe that we would have applied it to the OPG project oversight amounts.


MR. ELSON:  Could you provide an undertaking to provide the total cost of the DRP, including the capitalized interest and escalation in 2014, assuming a 50, 100 percent, 150, 200 and 250 percent cost overruns with respect to all of OPG project management cost, contractor costs and other costs?  In other words, apply those scenarios to all of the costs listed in this chart?


MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, why?


MR. ELSON:  Rather than just a selected number.  We are trying to run a scenario analysis.


MR. KEIZER:  But scenario analysis based upon what factual basis or evidentiary basis, just other than picking numbers and saying let's just escalate the numbers accordingly.


MR. ELSON:  History.


MR. KEIZER:  History?


MR. ELSON:  There can be an separate debate about whether or not there will be cost overruns.  All this question gets to is what the impact of those cost overruns would be on the overall total cost.


MR. KEIZER:  I guess I am struggling to understand how that ties into the issues that are currently before the Board in this proceeding.


MR. ELSON:  I believe in this proceeding we are talking about the contracting strategies, and the main purpose of that is to avoid cost overruns.  And if we are able to say if the costs increase by 50 percent, you know, what does that do?  Does that increase the overall costs that OPG bears, does that fall upon contractors, et cetera, so we are trying to look at some scenarios and say hypothetically, let's say you increase everything by 50 percent across the board, what happens.


MR. KEIZER:  Just give me a moment.


I think what we would like to do is just take your request and discuss it over the break as to whether or not, you know, it's appropriate to do that with respect to all cost categories, and then we can advise you of our position at that time.


MR. ELSON:  I guess my concern is that doesn't leave me with much if you are refusing to provide --


MR. KEIZER:  I didn't say I was refusing.  I said I would tell you at the break, after the break.


MR. ELSON:  So I guess maybe we assign a number to either tell us whether you are going to answer the question or answer the question?


MR. KEIZER:  That's fine.


MR. MILLAR:  JT3.16.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT3.16:  To advise whether OPG is going to answer the question; if not, why not

MR. ELSON:  And in order to provide some clarity, while you are looking at that issue, it would also be helpful to provide a breakout for each of the cost overrun scenarios I was speaking about for the different components of the project listed in JT2.2 on page 1.


MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, are you just saying just show them grossed up by 50 percent, and 150 percent, or whatever other number you thought up?


MR. ELSON:  Yes, that's right, and then, you know, it would be explaining which of those costs are borne by the contractor, as opposed to the costs borne by OPG.


MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, I am confused, because are you just simply saying take all of the things in this box and just gross them up by 50 percent and gross them up again?  Is that all you are asking us to do?  Or you are asking us to do something different?


MR. ELSON:  Maybe I can keep going on with my questions, and I am going to be adding to this shortly.


MR. KEIZER:  Well, I just kind of need to understand.


MR. ELSON:  So, yes, to be grossing them up by 50 percent or by the various cost overrun scenarios that we discussed.


MR. KEIZER:  Can't you do that with a calculator?  I mean, there is no science to that.  You either multiply by two or you don't.


MR. ELSON:  That's correct.  I would like to add more information to this, and if I can continue on, I will be getting to that in moments.


If you turn back to page 2 of the table, of the undertaking response.  If you look at the third column here, it talks about a 50 percent scenario resulting in $12.9 billion and a 250 percent cost overrun scenario resulting in a $16.8 billion cost, which is a difference of 31 percent.


And then if you go to the last column on this table, that results in an increase in the LUEC of just 1 cent, which is only 13 percent.  So an increase of the cost by 31 percent results in an increase of the LUEC by only 13 percent.


Can you explain how that is possible?


MR. ROSE:  Yes, we can.  In our evidence it notes that the LUEC is a combination of the refurbishment cost itself plus the post-refurbishment operations costs, so the 30 years of additional operations of the station.  The refurbishment component represents about a third of the overall LUEC.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.


MR. ROSE:  No problem.


MR. ELSON:  And, now, this is getting back to what we were just discussing.  According to the note at the bottom of the page, the LUEC estimates don't include fixed corporate overheads for pension and other employment benefits; is that right?  It's in note 1.


MR. ROSE:  This -- in this case, it is excluded.  In our evidence we note that the cost of LUEC for the fixed corporate overheads and for pension and other post-employment benefits is, I believe, .4 cents per kilowatt-hour.


MR. ELSON:  So that's .4 cents across the board?


MR. ROSE:  That is correct.  The fact that we have contract growth and refurbishment would not have any impact on those categories.


MR. ELSON:  So we could calculate those numbers by taking the LUEC numbers that you have here and then adding .4 across the board?


MR. ROSE:  That is correct.


MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Thank you.  So going back to my earlier questioning under 3.15, that's JT3.15, what we are looking for is a total cost of the DRP, including capitalized and interest and escalation in 2014 dollars, assuming a 50, 100, 150, 200, and 250 percent cost overruns with respect to all of the OPG project management costs, contractor costs, and other costs.


So that's the number that we are looking for, and that would be an arithmetic calculation, except to the extent that cost overruns are not borne by OPG, if that makes sense.  So we would be saying if the costs are increased by 50 percent, you know, how much of those are borne by OPG at the end of the day.


MR. KEIZER:  So we will give you an answer about whether or not we are going to answer that question at the break.


MR. ELSON:  Okay.  That is the earlier undertaking, and we have no further questions.


MR. MILLAR:  Ms. Feinstein, I believe you are next.

Questions by Ms. Feinstein:

MS. FEINSTEIN:  Thank you.  I am Pippa Feinstein, here on behalf of Lake Ontario Waterkeeper, and I only have two more questions for the panel, a bit of a follow-up from Mr. Shepherd's questions earlier today.


My first question is about the Modus reports.  I didn't find any specific reference to environmental risk management or any risks that would threaten OPG's compliance with our environmental approvals in these reports.  Would these issues fall under the scope of these kinds of reports, and have past reports examined these kinds of issues?


MR. GOULD:  If there were issues presented, if we saw that there were unusual risks to the project, that would not be outside of our scope to look at those.  As of this time we haven't seen any of that -- those types of issues.


MS. FEINSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Are there members of the, I guess the Burns & McDonnell, the Modus teams, with specialties in environmental regulatory compliance issues or with experience with environmental risks that are associated with the construction of projects like the refurbishment project?

MR. GOULD:  Burns & McDonnell has a very world-renowned division on environmental practices and remediation, and if necessary we would call on those resources.  As I said, as of this time we have not found a reason to do that.


MS. FEINSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you.  On page 7 of the June 26th report, there are cited soil conditions as being responsible for delays in the campus plan projects in the third quarter of 2013.  Is this -- and this is quite a specific question, so I don't know if you would know this off the top of your head, but is this something that would be related to an environmental concern?  Do you know anything about those soil conditions that you are referring to in the report?


MR. GOULD:  We are just looking strictly at the potential for interruption to the project.  We have not done any analysis of the soil or the agent that may be at play here.  That probably is outside of our scope.


MS. FEINSTEIN:  Okay.  Thanks.  So --


MR. REINER:  I may be able to offer an answer to that. 


MS. FEINSTEIN:  Thank you.


MR. REINER:  So the soil conditions specifically that are being addressed are tritium in the soil.  That has resulted in us taking mitigation measures.  We have had to construct a soil lay-down area in order to deal with the tritium emissions, so to appropriately decontaminate the soil before it can actually be moved offsite.


And so that added cost, I believe is the cost that is impacting the projects here that Modus has identified.


MS. FEINSTEIN:  Okay.  And were you able to discuss that issue in that level of detail with Modus? 


MR. REINER:  I mean, we certainly are able -- we are able to talk to them at that level of detail, but again, to the extent -- as Modus put it, to the extent that that creates risks for refurbishments, they would either comment on or not comment on it.


It has been identified as a risk because we did incur a cost to deal with contaminated soil.  And so that is something that they see and they are aware of.


MS. FEINSTEIN:  Okay.  And so if there were a similar incident in which there was some kind of accident in construction dealing with sewage infrastructure, for example, at the site, or with the heavy water containment system?


MR. REINER:  You know, what I will say is we wouldn't rely on Modus to be the entity that reports that kind of thing to the nuclear oversight committee.  We have got a lot of regulatory compliance requirements and processes in place, and other checks and balances through other agencies that we are accountable to, and that is how those would get dealt with.


MS. FEINSTEIN:  Okay.  Thanks.


MR. GOULD:  Just to add on to that, we would probably be looking at that to measure the impact, if there was any, to the project, but we would be looking at OPG to solve those types of issues internally.


MS. FEINSTEIN:  Okay.  So I understand that the nuclear oversight committee is charged with ensuring that there is environmental regulatory compliance.  And if it doesn't do this through independent bodies such as Modus, is there a specific oversight committee, or some kind of committee or panel within OPG that deals specifically with those issues and reporting them to the nuclear oversight committee? 


MR. REINER:  They are reported a couple of ways.


There is an environment group in OPG that does have accountability and that provides a report that makes its way to the OPG board.


The stations are also required to report all of their environmental-related infractions or issues, and so there are specific metrics on the station report cards that report these.  And in the case of refurbishment, anything that we would encounter in refurbishment would roll up into the station metric.  So if we had a spill, for example, that would get counted against the spills on the station's report card.


MS. FEINSTEIN:  How often are those reports required?  Is it just required if there is an incident, or is it regular reporting?


MR. REINER:  That is part of regular reporting.  So those reports are -- they are updated on a monthly basis and they are provided to the nuclear oversight committee at the quarterly meetings.


MS. FEINSTEIN:  So that I imagine if it's monthly, it would also deal with routine environmental monitoring.  Would that include the environmental assessment follow-up monitoring that's required?


MR. REINER:  The environmental assessment follow-up monitoring is a little different, in that there are specific programs that are being implemented to do that monitoring.  Those programs will be executed by the station, and so they will be reporting their progress relative to those programs but that reporting will be done separately to the CNSC under the environmental assessment.


MS. FEINSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are all my questions. 


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Ms. Feinstein. Mr. Poch? 
Questions by Mr. Poch:

MR. POCH:  First of all, I understand that OPG is asking to delay the re-licensing of Darlington for a year, the re-licensing by the CNSC; is that correct?


MR. REINER:  That's correct.


MR. POCH:  Can you just tell me the shift of dates there, from and to? 


MR. REINER:  So the licence currently expires at the end of this year, the current operating licence.  We are requesting a one-year extension to the operating licence.  That application has -- I believe that has already been submitted.  And so that would move the hearing.  We haven't got precise dates for the re-licensing hearing, but it would essentially move it from the fall of 2014 to the fall of 2015.


MR. POCH:  What has precipitated that? 


MR. REINER:  There is -- in discussions with the Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission, they have made it very clear that in order for us to obtain a licence that spans the refurbishment time window -- and that is the objective that we are seeking on the re-licensing, is a licence that spans the refurbishment time window -- that all open issues that do not have specific mitigation associated with them, in order to address any gaps associated with those open issues, must be resolved prior to the licence application.


There are a couple of issues that we have not yet closed.  And in order to give us the time to do, the decision was made to defer the licence application.


MR. POCH:  So these are issues pertaining to the details of refurbishment, or that are outstanding from previous CNSC requests of you to satisfy them on something; is that correct? 


MR. REINER:  Yeah.  They are primarily outstanding requests.  I believe we have -- we have one or two issues on refurbishment.  They are primarily around -- there is an issue around seismic -- what seismic criteria gets utilized in our design.  So there is an issue there that we need to resolve.


And there is an issue associated with -- that hits the refurbishment work but related to a previous outstanding requirement related to fire protection within the power station.


MR. POCH:  So to the extent that you aren't -- you are now forecasting you won't be in a position to have your ducks in a row to go before the CNSC for re-licensing because, amongst other things, you haven't finished the analysis and come up with your plan of approach to deal with, for example, the seismic and fire management issues, there is outstanding uncertainty, I take it, in scope as a result, until you nail that down?


MR. REINER:  There is some uncertainty in the scope until we nail that down.


Now, we do have the ability to do that outside of this licensing process.  So the criteria we are working to is to have these nailed down before the application proceeds for the licence that spans refurbishment.


But as part of the process for getting the regulatory approvals, there is an integrated implementation plan that we have to develop.  That plan has been developed and submitted to the CNSC, and what we will do is, as we reach agreement on what the seismic design guide is and what the mitigation on fire protection is -- and those discussions are in process with the CNSC -- we will update the integrated implementation plan and then we will be seeking CNSC concurrence that that plan addresses the refurbishment requirements.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  That answer, it seems to me, is more focused on how you are going to interact with the CNSC and adjust your plans, but my simple question I think you have answered yes -- and correct me if I am wrong -- is that until you finish that process with the CNSC, there remains a category of uncertainty that affect scope.


MR. REINER:  There is still a category of uncertainty.  But as I said, we -- the process, the process does require discussion between the company and CNSC on specific mitigating actions taken.  It isn't left to a licensing hearing.  The gaps have to be addressed and closed prior to that hearing.  But there is an element of risk, given that there is a board that will make an ultimate decision.


MR. POCH:  Right.  Okay.  Let's move on.


Mr. Gould, in your June 26th report, June 26, 2014 report, at page 6 -- I am going to quote for you:

"A concept within the estimate that is commonly misunderstood is the application of contingency.  Contingency is included in the base estimate and refers to costs that will probably occur based on past experience.  As a result, contingency is expected to be spent as the project progresses through its life cycle."


Do I understand that correctly to mean that from your perspective the realistic cost estimate that people should have in mind for this project is the 10 billion, roughly 10 billion, depending whether you include interest and escalation, that estimate, rather than the point estimate, which I am not going to mention on the public record, but that is without contingency and management reserve?


MR. GOULD:  That's correct.


MR. POCH:  Okay.


MR. REINER:  Can I maybe just by way of clarification --


MR. POCH:  By all means.


MR. REINER:  A point estimate does include contingency.  It does not include management reserve, but it does include contingency.  So if you --


MR. POCH:  We will come back to that in candid session just so I can nail down precisely which numbers we are referring to, but that's fine.


In any event, I would like to also return to JT2.2 that you were discussing with Mr. Elson a few minutes ago, and in particular part (c).  And that's where you provided a table of the costs and LUECs for various percentage cost overrun scenarios that he asked you to respond to.


For my purposes, what I am trying to get a fix on is the extent to which risk is borne by the contractors versus which it is born by OPG and that's ultimately either the consumer or the shareholder, either way, the taxpayer or the ratepayer.


And I took it that -- correct me if I am wrong -- I took it that in your answer that's provided here you -- the first part of any cost overrun in any of those scenarios, you applied your contingency allowances wherever they lie to soak up that cost overrun, and then any differences we see above 10 billion are just what's left after you have exhausted contingency; is that correct?


MR. ROSE:  So what we did is, our contingency amount, about half of that is related to what we call estimating uncertainty, based on the fact that we have a class 5 estimate.  There is an uncertainty in the estimate.  If you have class 4, there is uncertainty in the estimate.  So about 50 percent of our contingency is estimating uncertainty.


We drew on that.  We maintain the other part of our contingency, which is for discrete risks.  So the estimating uncertainty is there for that sole purpose to deal with cost growth or cost -- the final estimate of what the project will cost.


MR. POCH:  All right.  Well, given Mr. Gould's comments a few minutes ago that really something closer to the 10 billion is the number we should have in mind as the realistic projection of what this project is going to come in at.


MR. GOULD:  I don't know that, sir.


MR. POCH:  Oh.


MR. GOULD:  I think you drew an inference there that isn't there.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  I read your quote earlier that you said, you know, people misunderstand contingency, and your quote says it will probably occur, it's expected to be spent.  Those are your words.


MR. GOULD:  True.


MR. POCH:  So I drew from that that -- so if we take the estimate plus the contingency allowances that have been identified, you are saying we expect that to be spent by the time we finish -- by the time the breaker closes again.


MR. GOULD:  So the comment here is that it was addressing a commonly misunderstood concept related to contingency, that contingency is somehow this sort of fluff that is typically put on top of estimates, that if it's -- that it's not expected to be part of the project costs.


What we were pointing out is something that the Association of Advancement for Cost Engineering that we refer to on the previous page, that OPG is hinging its estimating platform to, that is something that's within their practice as well, that when establishing a final control budget for a project, that the appropriate number to look at would be the number inclusive of contingency.


I don't know that the -- hinging it to a particular number at this time I think is probably premature.


MR. POCH:  Right.  So in other words, you are suggesting that the 10 billion is not something the Board should place reliance on.


MR. GOULD:  I am not suggesting that at all, sir.


MR. POCH:  Well, you are telling me you can't give me a number that you can place reliance upon.  Isn't that what you've just said?


MR. GOULD:  Well, first of all, it's not my number, it's OPG number.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  I am asking you for your opinion of OPG's number.  You're the one who's looked at this from an oversight position.


Do you think that the 10 billion is a reliable number, or do you think it's somewhat less than that or somewhat more than that, or are you saying at this point it's too early to tell?


MR. GOULD:  What we say is that at this point there is nothing that we see as a threat to the $10 billion ceiling and that the cost estimate is progressing at the appropriate level of detail and is moving towards the RQE, at which point you will have a better estimate for which to judge that, so perhaps that's a better asked question at that point in time.


MR. POCH:  Well, let me go back to you, Mr. Reiner, in answer to the -- and back to J2.2.  What I would like to know -- to get an understanding of how these risks, if they should materialize, would be borne, I would like you to go back to that undertaking and answer to us, assuming that your estimate including contingencies and reserves, so the $10 billion estimate, let's see what happens when that doubles, for example.  I want to know if it goes -- if the costs are -- if the costs spent by you or your contractors, the actual real-world costs, leaving aside who bears them for the moment, moves from 10 billion to 20 billion, how much is borne by OPG and ultimately passed on, and how much is -- will the contractor soak up due to the structure -- the contracting strategy you have chosen, this target-based approach in the main?


And so that is what I don't think we have an answer to, at least not one that I can understand so far.  Can you do that for us?  That seems to be central to the question that you have asked the Board to give you feedback on.


MR. KEIZER:  So effectively that's the same I think -- I think now I understand that that's the same question that Mr. Elson was asking.


MR. POCH:  Well, yeah, I am not sure.  I think what Mr. Elson said is, let's go back and increase your point estimate, as opposed to your total estimate, including contingencies, and he is just saying, but increase all of the parts, not just the parts you chose to increase by 50 percent or 100 percent.  He is saying increase the OPG management costs, for example, which your answer in B suggests you didn't increase.  That's in a sense a variation on the way you answered this the first time.


I am saying that doesn't tell me how the risks are being borne between the contractors and OPG, and that is what I want to get a fix on.  So I am saying take the costs at -- if the ultimate cost is 20 billion -- I am not saying cost to OPG, I am saying ultimate costs of, you know, paying the workers and buying the machinery is 20 billion, how much of that is borne by OPG and how much of that is borne by the contractors, assuming, you know, those cost over -- obviously you have to make assumption -- the same assumption I guess you've made before -- well, let's make the assumption that you spread those cost overruns over everything, because -- whether they are fixed or target or what-have-you, let's say, whether they are OPG management expense or contractor expense, just everything.  That I think is simpler and cleaner.  

And so some of them, obviously, if they are fixed, you are going to bear no part of that inflation, and if it's target, I assume there is a formula that you can at least ballpark for us.  I'm sure it varies contractor by contractor, but we would like to get a sense of that.  And then some of it, like OPG management, I assume is 100 percent borne by OPG, but if we could do that, I think that would give the Board some idea of how this contracting strategy you have chosen will allocate risk.


MR. KEIZER:  Maybe, like Mr. Elson's question, maybe we can take that away and discuss it on the break in terms of what we can do.


MR. POCH:  Let's -- dare I try to put this in the form of an undertaking and word that.


MR. REINER:  We are going to need to be pretty clear on what the scenarios are that are being run, because I am hearing all kinds of things.  And, you know, there are fixed costs in these estimates, there are direct costs associated with work the contractor does.


So it sounds to me what you are after is another scenario, is add a row to the column and instead of making it 250 percent, it's maybe 350 percent.


MR. POCH:  No, no, no.


MR. REINER:  Because it essentially does the exact same thing, I think, that the previous question asked for.  It would spread the cost everywhere, across all elements, contractors, OPG, fixed costs.


We can run any number of scenarios that you like.  Now, whether or not you can conclude from that that contracting strategies are sound, I think that would be a bit of a stretch.


MR. POCH:  That's for the Board.  We don't need to argue that today.


MR. KEIZER:  I think we should just step back and see what we can do.


MR. POCH:  That is fine.  I will be here after the break and we can try to word this more narrowly if you can see your way through to it.  Meanwhile, let's move on.


Now, I understand that you have -- in your contracting approach, when you make your contracts with your various contractors, you understand that there is certain uncertainties, risks, some of which you bear -- you allocate -- you say will be OPG's.  And I assume a scope increase would be something OPG would have to bear; am I correct?


MR. REINER:  Yeah.  Yeah.  In general if it is something that's unforeseen that wasn't identified as work for the contractor to do that emerges, that would be OPG's risk.


MR. POCH:  But there are items where you say if there's a cost overrun on X, Y or Z because of some risk that crystallizes, that's -- your contract will specify some of those and say that's for the contractor.


MR. REINER:  Yeah, that's correct.  And those risks lie in areas like, for example, we are holding the contractor accountable for executing the work that is within their control to the costs and schedule.  And so the incentives and disincentives are intended to do that.


And then there are also elements related to rework and warranty.  So if the work is faulty, we expect warranty coverage.


MR. POCH:  That is what goes in a risk register; is that correct?


MR. REINER:  Well, it -- that would get tracked in the risk register, yes.  You know, the risk of rework, it would get tracked.


As the work actually gets executed, that's dealt with in real time, but it would get tracked.


MR. POCH:  All right.  So am I correct that the items that are in a risk register are items that you are either allocating fully to the contractor or sharing in some fashion?


MR. REINER:  Well, we have got full transparency to the risk register that the contractor runs, which is all the risks that they are managing on the project.


And then we have our own risk registry that we manage.  So we have got full visibility.


And that even includes the fixed-price elements of the contract.


MR. POCH:  Let me just clarify.  Is the risk register in effect part of the contract, or this is just a management tracking tool that you and your contractors use?


MR. REINER:  It is a project management tool, but there is a -- we stipulate in the contract processes that the contractors are expected to follow.  So risk management, risk mitigation is a requirement.  Tracking of risks is a requirement.


MR. POCH:  All right.  I think I will have to come back to that with reference to a red-boxed section later.


I am going to jump around a bit because I am trying to deal with the open items first.  And I apologize if it's a bit disjointed, but bear with me.


First of all, in the August 13th report, that's initial page of assessment at page 48, under "RFR cost estimates" in the second paragraph, you refer to whether the -- whether the estimates include contingency amounts or not.  That twigged a question in my mind, which is:  Are there -- you have identified in your confidential filings contingency and management reserve in addition to what you called contractor costs.


Are there contingencies allowances that are part of contractor costs?  Or that's for them to -- that's up to them and you haven't stipulated that?


MR. ROSE:  For the RNFR contractor that you are referencing here, when we set the target price, we will set the target price based on the estimate plus an amount of contingency for the risks that we agree that the contractor is best to manage.


MR. POCH:  Sorry, you are just saying when you negotiate the price, you are cognizant of the risks they are being left with?


MR. ROSE:  Correct.  When we set that target price, it will be inclusive of the risks that the contractor -- we all agree the contractor is best to manage and the contingency will be based on the residual risk of that issue.


So if there's a risk today, we want the con5tractyor to get out in front of it and manage it and lower it to the extent that's feasible.


MR. POCH:  Right.  Okay.  And I see it's the next paragraph, which I can't refer to right now, which we will have to come back to just to clarify the use of the risk register and so on.


Okay.  Back to the June 26th report, which is the sort of overview report, at page 11 in the table there in the -- on the right-hand side, the third box down, you refer to:

"The campus plan projects struggled with the initial application of a hands-off oversight model paired with largely cost-reimbursable target price contracts."


Am I correct that that approach to contracting, cost-reimbursable target price contracts, is the predominant method that you are contracting for the entire project?  Your target price contracts, hard costs are reimbursable, but...


MR. REINER:  Yes.


MR. POCH:  Similar to what you used --


MR. REINER:  Profits and overheads are at risk.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  So that is the same -- you used that same approach, in the main, on the campus projects?


MR. REINER:  Similar approach used on the campus projects, yes.


MR. POCH:  All right.  I think –- okay.  Now, you may have answered this earlier; I apologize if you have.


The campus projects are really beyond -- at this point they are beyond -- are they beyond the definition phase?  You are executing these projects?


MR. REINER:  These projects are in execution.  We are still in the definition phase on the overall refurbishment program, but these projects are -- many of them are in the construction phase, yes.


MR. POCH:  Right.  So these problems or the extent of this problem became apparent to management when execution had already begun; is that fair?


MR. REINER:  I'd say at various points; some in the engineering phase, in the upfront definition phase, some in the execution, because there -- some of the projects did struggle with some of the challenges during construction.


MR. POCH:  First of all, where are we -- if you have to give a percentage on where you are in the campus projects now, total project completion, can you just give us a ballpark of what percentages you are at, well, in terms of spending at least, or...


MR. REINER:  In terms of completion, the Darlington energy complex is -- of that set of projects is the only one that is currently complete.


MR. POCH:  That was just the conventional building.


MR. REINER:  That was a conventional building, yes.


MR. POCH:  Right.


MR. REINER:  The rest of the projects are in varying phases, some still in initiation phase, some in construction, but none of the others have yet completed.


MR. POCH:  All right.  The ones that have given you the headache, if I may -- you can ignore my adjectives if you like -- but, you know, the D2O facility and the heating facility and so on, I take it that these are still under construction and is it fair to say less than half complete?


MR. REINER:  The auxiliary heating system, you know, if you were to go out there today and have a look, you will see there are already condensers in place.  I believe boilers, if they haven't already arrived, will arrive shortly, probably somewhere around 35 to 40 percent complete.


D2O storage, the excavation is complete, the -- well, the pylons and caissons, so the foundation work essentially is complete.  The excavation now is occurring and steel work is beginning, so that one I would say in terms of the construction effort is probably about maybe 10 to 20 percent complete.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  And when this problem became apparent to management, then you would be -- what would be the comparable numbers, comparable percentages?  How much work had been done?


MR. REINER:  I think it will vary.  When we started to become -- well, so for D2O storage, for example, we are still working on finalizing the cost estimate and schedule, and we are about, as I said, 10 to 20 percent through construction.


For the auxiliary heating system, we had already started excavation work, I think, at the time that we had produced the revised cost estimates.


So the problems -- the problems began to show up largely in the engineering phase of the projects.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  When was the OPG board told of the -- that there was a significant problem with the campus program costs?


MR. REINER:  We report to the board on status of the projects at every board meeting, so they are project-specific reports.


MR. POCH:  Well, I assume at some point someone highlighted that there was an issue here that needed attention?


MR. ROSE:  So in August and November of 2013 our board would have been informed that we were having some schedule challenges with our projects.  In November 2013 we informed our board that we were doing a cost evaluation.  In March of 2013 -- sorry, March of 2014 we indicated some of the projected cost estimates, and we fine-tuned that again in May, with noting that the D2O final costs would be known in August.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  But they -- so the board engaged on this issue and then specifically engaged Modus to look at it at a higher level of detail when?


MR. GOULD:  It was actually management that asked us to look at it at the beginning of the year, the beginning of 2014.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  And has the Minister's office been advised of this?  Have they been sent the Modus reports and told of this?


MR. REINER:  Yes, they have.


MR. POCH:  And when would that have occurred?


MR. REINER:  The Ministry does also get updates of project status, but the Modus reports were provided to the Ministry in, I believe it was in early June.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  But before then they would have been given updates on project progress and costs?


MR. REINER:  Yes, well, the Ministry have their own independent oversight on the project.  So there is -- they have an advisor that they have engaged that is embedded with us that writes reports on status, is -- has access to all information, can attend any meetings.  We don't see their reports, but --


MR. POCH:  Of course.


MR. REINER:  -- but their oversight entity reports back on status.


MR. POCH:  Is that advisor routinely in the loop when you are getting advice from Modus, for example?


MR. REINER:  That advisor has access to all of the Modus reports and Modus findings, and the process is very much the same, in terms of their access to information to the project management team, attending key meetings in order to assess for themselves what the status of the project is and what the issues and challenges are that are being addressed.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  Let's flip right to the back of this bundle of material, which is the May 13th report, attachment C, is the summary of cost variances to date for the campus-plan projects?  And there we see the variance is more broken out.


Now, a lot of these are blacked out.  That's fine.  We don't need to get into the numbers.  What I am interested in is understanding, again, for these specific variances how your contracts allocate those cost variances.  Are these all -- all the variances shown here borne by OPG or are some of these borne by the contractors?


MR. ROSE:  So each of these projects are being executed by the ESMSA vendors.  The ESMSA vendor sets a target price, and any amounts above that target price, their portions of the profit is at risk.  So OPG would bear the direct cost.  The ESMSA vendor would bear the profit for the amounts that are beyond the agreed-upon target price.  That is direct in relation to the project.


In addition to that, the ESMSA vendor's profit that was accumulated in a given year goes into a pool, and the ESMSA's -- we go through a performance assessment of how they are performing, and their profit is adjusted according to their performance, so i.e., if they get a .75 score they will receive payout of 75 percent of their profit for that period of work.


So there is really -- they can actually lose profit beyond the target price, and they can also lose profit for the projects that went well if overall they are not performing well.


MR. POCH:  All right.  So my question may be more complicated and simpler at the same time.  Without getting into numbers again, you have showed variances and percentage in dollars and percents.  Can we tell -- can you tell us, are you just showing here the variances that you expect to be borne by OPG, or these -- it's still to be allocated how these variances are going to be borne?


MR. ROSE:  So for the estimates that we provide, OPG provides in our D2-2-2 evidence, there the amounts that will be borne -- we believe will be borne by OPG pending finalization of the D2O cost estimate, except for one area.  Within the water and sewer project, within that business case, we have actually included some costs that we are looking to recover.


MR. POCH:  All right.  That may be a --


MR. ROSE:  There are some rework costs, some quality performance issues, that we are looking to recover those costs.


MR. POCH:  Right.  And -- but it's uncertain whether you will be successful.


MR. ROSE:  That's is correct, but we have noted that to our board, that this amount is included.  We are seeking recovery from the vendor.


MR. POCH:  The numbers in the Modus report, though, which are much more broken out and so on than in your covering piece of evidence, well, for example, there is a line in -- in many of these there is a contractor underestimate value, and variance and increase.  Is a contractor underestimate borne by OPG, or is that all to the account of the contractor? 


MR. ROSE:  It's going to depend.  It's going to depend whether or not it's the same scope.  If the vendor underestimated the same scope, they will not be eligible for the profit attributed with that estimate growth.  If the estimate increase is due to OPG adding scope to the project through the discovery of that project, we would bear those costs --


MR. POCH:  No, there's a separate -- sorry to interrupt.  There is a separate line that says "OPG scope change."  I think that's the latter point you were just making, was it not?


MR. ROSE:  OPG-driven scope change we will be accountable for.


MR. POCH:  Right.


MR. ROSE:  Where the vendor's estimate is above the agreed-upon target price for the same work, the profit, as I described a little bit earlier, is at risk to the ESMSA vendor.


MR. POCH:  So we really -- and this variance here is just the actual variance incurred, and you have yet to -- these numbers are not adjusted for, what, the contractor is going to soak up out of their profit?


MR. ROSE:  Eric, you ought to speak to these numbers.


MR. GOULD:  Yeah.  So these numbers are based on forecast; these are not final budget numbers.  This is a comparison that we did of what has been referred to as the 4Charlie or the 2014 business plan, against current projected forecasts for these projects.


So there is some danger in attributing too much accuracy to these numbers at this time, because these are not budgeted numbers.


MR. POCH:  And they are moving targets, presumably?


MR. GOULD:  They are not -- it's a range within the expected -- the expected discussion of numbers such as these. 


MR. POCH:  Fair enough.


MR. GOULD:  You match up the level of maturity with the -- how you attribute the numbers.


MR. POCH:  I understand that these numbers are -- we shouldn't place -- shouldn't take too many significant digits here, assume there is too many significant digits.


I understand that entirely.  Obviously, this is a project that is evolving.  Your reports ring that bell loudly.  Engineering is not where it needs to be to have a release quality estimate.  We get that.


But I am just asking the question whereas if these variances turn out the be the variances, are these the variances that -- you know, that, Mr. Reiner, you expect OPG is going to be saddled with?  Or are these variances then subject to adjustment for the allocation of who bears these overruns from original estimates as between you and the contractors?


MR. REINER:  It goes back to what Mr. Rose had said.  The contractor's estimate is on a scope of work.  If that scope of work doesn't change, the contractor puts their profit and overhead at risk, if their estimate is false, and if that estimate was the basis for establishing the target price.


If the scope changes and there are additional things that we add to the work, then it's clearly not the contractor's responsibility to manage that and that falls to OPG.


MR. POCH:  Can I assume that where you have identified a significant overage that you have labelled "contractor underestimate" as opposed to labelling it "OPG scope change" or "OPG-related cost increase," that your initial position is that that's for the contractor to bear? 


MR. GOULD:  First of all, we labelled that.  OPG didn't label it that.  It was our attempt to characterize --


MR. POCH:  All right.


MR. GOULD:  -- the nature of these overruns.


MR. POCH:  All right.  And do I take it that you have not parsed the contracts and done that from a perspective of cost allocation?  You have just --


MR. REINER:  Well, the example that Mr. Rose gave you on water and sewer, we are -- there is a cost increase directly related to the quality of work done on a specific piece of scope.  And we have identified the dollars associated with that, but are pursuing getting a reimbursement of those costs.  So we would not expect to bear those costs.  We have identified it as a risk and therefore have budgeted for that risk.


In the other cases, where the scope is yet -- where estimates are yet to be determined based on scope of work, that, you know, we  -- that comes back to OPG.  Those cost increases are directly reflective of the work that needs to be executed.


MR. POCH:  So when you, for example, have included values on your table and your covering evidence for what's coming into service in the next two years, this year and next, for some of these very projects, with the exception you have noted, you have yet to go through -- we have yet to know to what extent some of those costs should be borne by the contractor as opposed to by OPG? 


MR. ROSE:  Other than the D2O project, which it is truly an estimate right now of what the costs are pending our finalization in August, and the note on the water and sewer project, the others are based on our business case, which includes, incorporates what OPG will be held to pay.


So in the auxiliary heating system case, the business case is reflective of what we believe our cost estimate and what OPG --


MR. POCH:  Okay.  And that cost estimate is -- has -- is the inflated cost estimate and is the result of the experience you have had to date.  And when we look at that, those variances, we see -- the way I am hearing your answers is some of that may or may not be borne by the contractors, depending on whether it's deemed to have been their risk to manage or yours, and whether you have exhausted their profit margin or not, and so on.


And that, we won't know that until the end, right? 


MR. REINER:  In the case of -- what the actual result is and whether or not the contractor is liable for additional cost increases because of their performance in executing the work, we won't know that until the project -- we will learn that as the projects progress.


MR. POCH:  Okay.


MR. REINER:  But with water and sewer, we already know that in one specific instance.


With the other projects where the costs have, I will call it, increased, because the scope of work has increased, that is work we are asking the contractor to perform for us.  For those two projects, D2O storage and AHS, we are asking the contractor to execute that work.


It is needed work.  These are facilities that are required.  They are sized per the requirement for the station and for the refurbishment project.


And the issue, really, that we are talking about here is -- the issue that we are rectifying in our project management is to not utilize the early estimates without having the engineering well enough advanced as release quality estimates, and utilizing those in our business cases as release quality estimates.


But the costs are reflective of the work that we are asking the contractor to perform.


MR. POCH:  So your view is -- well, there are numerous references throughout the Modus reports where the contractor is being -- I don't want to use the word "criticized" in a pejorative sense, but you are observing that the contractor didn't -- either underestimated things or has been slower than anticipated, what have you.


Do I understand correctly you are now saying thus far the cost overruns on the D2O, for example, OPG is going the bear them all?


MR. REINER:  At this stage, based on where the work is at, those would be OPG's costs.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  Thank you.  Back to the June 16th report.  At page 10, in the bottom left box there, this is the chronology, basically, and description of your reports.


And, Mr. Gould, you described the May 13th, 2014 report as -- you performed a detailed assessment of the campus plan projects risk and assessment of cost/schedule variances.


Am I correct that you have not, at least as of yet, conducted that level of detailed review of the other aspects of the overall Darlington project?


MR. GOULD:  That is correct.  They are not primed to do that one yet.


MR. POCH:  All right.  Have you been asked to do that, or will you expect to do that?


MR. GOULD:  I would expect that that is part of our role in oversight.  We absolutely will do that.


MR. POCH:  Okay.


MR. GOULD:  When the time is right.


MR. POCH:  All right.  Excuse me.  In the March 2014 report, which is the first-quarter 2014 report, at page 3, under the heading B, Burns & McDonnell Modus assessment, you say:

"This is our assessment of the extent to which the DR team is currently in compliance with the Long-Term Energy Plan, LTEPs, principles."


But then you go on a sentence down.  You say:

"In this assessment we have focused solely on the DR project's readiness.  We have not been retained by NOC to assess each of the considerations in the Long-Term Energy Plan."


I am just trying to parse that and understand, you know, what of the, you know, the seven principles in the Long-Term Energy Plan that you recite just above that from the previous -- page 2 and 3, what of those did you -- were you charged with looking for compliance with?


MR. GOULD:  So that relates to number 7, which does not -- is not applicable to OPG.


MR. POCH:  Oh, okay.  So in your view, you have looked at the compliance of OPG with the six principles that are specifically -- that are not up for Bruce.


MR. GOULD:  Yes.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  We will come back to that.


I have a question that relates to several comments in your reports.  I will give you a few of the cites.  Maybe we won't need them.


Starting at -- in the June 26th report, you refer at page 12 -- you refer to the blue-ribbon panel, and it made several recommendations to remove project scope, and these are the ones that we heard earlier go to the scope review board.


And then in the August 13th report, at page 5 you say the scrubbing, your word, of the scope:

"...is timely, appropriate, and necessary and should result in greater confidence in the execution, schedule, and overall project costs.  However, the DR team must also take appropriate care to ensure that items not included in the project scope but are nevertheless needed in some manner for the DNGS station's future operation and performance are captured in future O&M and capital planning and are not dropped."


So I took it from that that some of this scrubbing, I assume some of it is simply, you are finding projects that are simply unnecessary and will never be needed, but that a lot of this is about deciding what needs to be done during the lay-up, during the refurbishment, necessary for the refurbishment, and what can be deferred and done when the plant's operating or in subsequent outages and can be postponed; is that fair?


MR. REINER:  Yes, that's correct.  That looks at work that doesn't require the refurbishment conditions to be executed and is part and parcel of a maintenance program and would get captured there.


MR. POCH:  And if these things are scrubbed and deferred, does that mean they come out of your $10 billion budget?  I use that word -- term loosely, 10 billion.  You understand what I mean.


MR. REINER:  Yes.


MR. POCH:  They come out of the Darlington refurbishment project silo.


MR. REINER:  Yes.


MR. POCH:  And they would be off in subsequent operations or capital budgets.


MR. REINER:  So when -- so the process we follow for that is the recommendation to remove the scope came to the scope review board, scope review board looked at it, there were some minor adjustments made as part of that review, and then the cost estimate for the refurbishment project was adjusted in accordance with the scope that was removed.


MR. POCH:  And I think you gave an example earlier today of some or all of the facility where you cut up the tubes.


MR. REINER:  Yes.


MR. POCH:  I forget the acronym.  And you have scrubbed that out of the Darlington budget and put it into --


MR. REINER:  No, that -- are you referring to the retube waste processing building?


MR. POCH:  Yes.


MR. REINER:  No, that is not scrubbed out of -- that is part of refurbishment.  That is in refurbishment.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  All right.  Good.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Poch, how are you doing for time?  You have used your 45 and a bit, so...


MR. POCH:  I am just at the end of my open questions.  Yes, I will just be a few more minutes, I think.  Just one sec.


In the March 4th report, which is the -- tell me which quarter that is -- second-quarter 2014, I assume, page 2, there, halfway down the page, there is a number given of 179 million of work being removed from the DR project, some of which has been cancelled entirely, so this would be part of what's been scrubbed; is that correct?


MR. GOULD:  Yes.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  Is this the total amount that's been scrubbed?


MR. ROSE:  As it relates to the blue-ribbon campaign, the blue-ribbon exercise, yes.


MR. POCH:  And has there been other scrubbings in addition?


MR. ROSE:  Yes.


MR. POCH:  Can you give me a sense of those?


MR. ROSE:  On a routine -- on a regular basis we scrub -- we challenge our scope, as we talked about earlier, the options review board or gate review boards or scope review boards, et cetera.  Just to give you one example, we decided as a -- with a decision to implement our refurbishment project office, we decided to not build some facilities up Park Road, which is a road in the centre of the Darlington site.


The result of that is that the RPO, the refurbishment project office project itself, went up a little bit in dollars, but it was offset by a reduction of, you know, much more than that in the overall portfolio.


So we do make those types of scope challenges and reductions as we go forward.


MR. POCH:  I think what I am really after is just get a fix on how much work has been scrubbed out of the initial assumption for the Darlington DRP and campus projects, but that is simply being deferred?


MR. REINER:  I think this number here, the 179 million that you are seeing here, is work that we believe does need to be executed but is being captured elsewhere.  Whether or not the estimate will be precisely this, I expect the cost estimate to be probably somewhat lower, because there are existing programs that will capture some of this.


In our exercise, you know, Mr. Rose gave an example of where we make tradeoffs.  The other thing that we also do as part of our scope, scrubbing, is there is a lot scope definition work that's tied to inspections of components and equipment, and we do that during outages leading up to refurbishment, so each and every outage we do inspections, and that has resulted in actually removals of scope, because the equipment is in better condition than we had expected it to be.


MR. POCH:  Well, let's take a specific example.  If you go to page 5, it's halfway down the page.  It says:

"OPG simplified the scope of the turbine generator work by delaying the installation of the turbine controls for unit 2 until a future outage."


So would that be work taken out of -- first of all, would that be work in -- to that extent it was deferred, taken out of the Darlington budget and treated as subsequent operating or capital budget? 


MR. REINER:  That work is -- that is part of the $179 million that has been removed. 


MR. POCH:  Okay.  So it's been removed from the Darlington budget.  It will presumably be needed at some point?


MR. REINER:  But it will be needed and it will get implemented in a future outage.


MR. POCH:  Right.  And these are -- those are controls that are going to be needed for that turbine? 


MR. REINER:  Yes.


MR. POCH:  All right.  Okay.  That's good enough for now.  Thank you.  I have a bunch of other questions that are confidential, so let's just leave it for now.

Questions by Mr. Elson:


MR. ELSON:  Michael, could I make one comment, just about JT3.15?  There is a bit of a confusing discussion, and what I propose to do actually will be to send a table with some blanks to Mr. Keizer, to help explain exactly what we are looking for.


So I will forward that to you shortly, just to help explain exactly what blanks are missing at the moment.


MR. MILLAR:  And I understand they will either fill out that table or tell you why they won't?


MR. ELSON:  That is my understanding.


MR. KEIZER:  That's fine.


MR. MILLAR:  Let's take a break and we'll return with Mr. Crocker.  We will begin again at 20 to four. 


--- Recess taken at 3:22 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:41 p.m.

MR. MILLAR:  Why don't we get started again.  Ms. Girvan, you have some questions for the panel?
Questions by Ms. Girvan:


MS. GIRVAN:  Yes, thank you.

This may be for this panel, or it might be for Mr. Keizer and Mr. Barrett, but I am trying to reconcile some things, and so if I could take you to two schedules.  One is the -- we looked at the DRP in-service amounts -- these are the campus-plan projects -- in the updated evidence on page 6.  It's table 1.  So that's D2, tab 2, schedule 2, page 6, so we have that.

And then if you can turn to the June 26th Modus report on page 16.  And we have been looking a bit at these two schedules.  And I am just hoping maybe we have this before next week.  I am just trying to first of all reconcile these two schedules, because the categories aren't necessarily the same.

And the other thing that I would like to understand is, what relief is OPG asking for with respect to the amounts in 14 and 15, as we see in the far right-hand columns of table 1 and D2, tab 2, schedule 2.  So are you seeking -- I think you are seeking approval of those amounts to be put into rate base for the purpose of calculating the payment amounts, and Andrew seems to be shaking his head, so that could help me.

MR. BARRETT:  Yeah, we have an updated rate base since the September filing, so the numbers that are in the proposed payment amounts and riders are the originally filed.  The other information is provided as information, and since none of the revenue-requirement changes that resulted from the updated information was material, we haven't updated the proposed payment amounts and riders.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So I guess -- so I guess I am really looking at these amounts, the 67.2 and the 222.7, you are not seeking any approval of those?  You are just saying these are the updated amounts for these particular elements of these projects?

MR. BARRETT:  That's right.  They are not reflected in the specific approvals for payments amounts and riders.  Notionally they are captured within the approval that we are seeking for the capital expenditure amounts, for the capital expenditure amounts for '14 and '15 include these amounts plus other amounts.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. BARRETT:  You'll recall that was one of the approvals that we sought.

MS. GIRVAN:  So when would the Board consider the prudence of the expenditures related to the list of projects, for example, on table 1?

MR. BARRETT:  Well, in the normal course they would assess the prudence as a capital amount as going into rate base, so for the amounts that are going in in '14 and '15, that is when that assessment of prudence should happen, in my view.

MS. GIRVAN:  So it would be the next payments case?

MR. BARRETT:  No, again, we are proposing to add into rate base certain in-service amounts in '14 and '15, and they are part of our forecast revenue requirement for '14 and '15 and the proposed payment amounts and riders.

MS. GIRVAN:  Richard, do you understand?
Questions by Mr.Battista:


MR. BATTISTA:  I had that same sort of question, because you are saying all these changes you are not intending to recover in your payments amount.  So you filed an application in the fall, there was the February updates, now there are more updates, and the February ones you said, well, it washes out, so we are not going to change anything, or they are not material.  You seem to be saying the same thing here, like theoretically then you are not closing it to rate base.

So in terms of your continuity schedules in D2, and those tables, they are either in or they are out, because what's going to happen is three years from now or whenever we won't know from a regulatory point of view what is the rate base and how much are any of the rate base change between, like, today and three years from now has been recovered from ratepayers or has been put in your capacity variance account.

MR. BARRETT:  Just a couple of things in response.  So again, the model that we have been using in this case and in prior cases is to file a set of information and then periodically file impact statements, and one of the things we use when we file those impact statements is a materiality threshold for making changes, and what we have talked about is a $10 million per year impact on the revenue requirement.

So if rate base changes, and rate base is constantly changing, forecast rate base is constantly changing, because projects have a natural ebb and flow to them, but if that rate base change doesn't produce a revenue-requirement impact of more than $10 million per year we don't flow it through.

So in terms of the rate base continuity, you will be able to track the rate base continuity.  Eventually -- we have a forecast rate base in the application.  It will eventually be actual numbers, which will be reported, and to the extent that the rate base forecast is approved, and with reference to these specific projects, if these in-service amounts are approved, we will be tracking the difference between these in-service amounts and the actual capacity refurbishment variance accounts.

MR. BATTISTA:  So the rate base that the board is approving in this proceeding is the rate base presented in the fall?

MR. BARRETT:  That's right.  We have an updated rate base.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So to go back to my table 1, what you are seeking with respect to these projects are the 2014, the 18.7 million, and the 209.4 million, and what will happen is whatever you spend will eventually get trued up as your actual rate base.

MR. BARRETT:  That's correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  So we will see the flow-through of what you actually spend in the next payment amounts case?

MR. BARRETT:  Yeah, in the same way that you would see in any forecasted rate base versus an actual rate base.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So --


MR. POCH:  Julie, sorry, I am sorry to interrupt, but I don't think we have an answer to the question, which is, will it be OPG's position eventually that that, say, 209 million in 2015, those particular items to the extent you indicated them, that if the Board accepts that now, that's it.  They are in rate base.  Prudence has been determined to that extent?

MR. BARRETT:  Absolutely.  That is why they are part of the forecast rate base.

MR. POCH:  Right.  Thank you.

MS. GIRVAN:  And the variance would be considered --


MR. BARRETT:  The variance would be tracked in the capacity refurbishment variance account and then brought forward for a subsequent review for disposition --


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  But let me just say -- here is another example.  So we have the Darlington OSB refurbishment, and you have $45 million in the updated, but you have 29.7 in the original, but that particular project is actually now forecast to be 53 million, and -- although it's supposed to be in service in the test period.

MR. BARRETT:  Yeah, but I think we heard from Mr. Rose that there is a certain amount that's in service in the test period and there is a certain amount of capital that will come into service after the test period, so those two numbers together, as I understand it, will add to the 53 million.

MR. ROSE:  Just let me clarify that.  The 45.1 is the amount that is eligible for capitalization.  The difference between the 45.1- and the $53 million is not eligible for capitalization, will be incorporated in the OM&A amounts.

MS. GIRVAN:  Oh.  That's another thing that I was going ask.  If you turn to again in the Modus report the page 16, it says "current forecast of these projects", so I think what you are telling me now is this is a combination of O&M and capital.

MR. ROSE:  The -- when you look at our business cases that get filed, they are the total cost of the project, right?  Our reports are the total cost of the project.  Then there is an accounting view of the project.  There is a capital amount that goes in service and an OM&A amount that is charged --


MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah, I understand that, but I guess -- I think some of us were maybe thinking that the forecast on page 16 of the Modus report were capital costs, but you are saying it's a combination.

MR. ROSE:  I will let Eric speak to that, but I believe Eric is not distinguishing between capital OM&A and service.  He is saying cost of the project when the project is done is X dollars.

MR. GOULD:  That's correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. REINER:  Can I just add a comment?  I would be somewhat cautious when using Modus numbers for our rate application.  I think the numbers you need to look at are the ones that are in our filing, because what Modus does is -- so their forecast will come from discussions with project managers.  That isn't necessarily precisely the forecast for the project.  That's -- when he does his deep dive and he assembles a view of the projects, that's the view of the projects.  The forecast comes from OPG, and that is what is in our -- that is what is reflected in our filing.

MS. GIRVAN:  So do you have in the evidence -- I guess you don't, because this is the update, but the total amounts for each of the projects listed on table 1, the total capital amounts or in-service amounts for each of those projects going beyond '14 and '15, so say the storage facility is '17, the island support annex is '16...

MR. ROSE:  I believe that under Undertaking JT3.5 this morning, that that was the intent of that question; what you just asked was what we talked about and undertook.

MS. GIRVAN:  So we are going to get the total amounts for those projects?

MR. ROSE:  Correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  And we are going to see, of those total amounts, which are in '14 and '15 and sort of what's left coming beyond --


MR. ROSE:  I believe there were two parts.  You wanted to understand -- and this is what I have written here –- the partial in-service amounts, what were the percentage of the amounts here that we are asking to put in service for those projects, and a description of how we deem them to be used and useful.

MS. GIRVAN:  Well, I think for all of these projects we are going to want to see the total amounts that you are projecting right now, which is somewhat comparable to what we see on page 16, but it's your forecast versus Modus's forecast.

MR. ROSE:  It will be comparable to our latest business cases that we file, so the --


MS. GIRVAN:  We don't have the updated numbers on the record to date, right?

MR. ROSE:  So what we will have is we will have the latest business cases for each project, i.e. the AHS.  We will have the in-service amounts here.  We can --


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. KEIZER:  So, Julie, you are just trying to understand what the number is in '16 or '17 or whatever?

MS. GIRVAN:  I would like to understand, for each of these projects, what are the total forecast costs, total, because some of them go beyond '14 and '15.  And then we will be able to see which ones are going, what portions are going into service in '14 and '15.

MR. KEIZER:  On a capital basis, right? 

MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah, because, for example, with the storage, under the Modus report the original forecast was 110 million and now it's 276 million.  So...

MR. ROSE:  So we can do that with the one note that I have made all day, is that the heavy water is a current estimate that we are finalizing, but it will be based on the current estimate that is incorporated in this evidence.

MR. GIRVAN:  I understand.  Yeah, it's not a final -- okay.

MR. ROSE:  We can do that.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  That is helpful.  It really clears some things up for me, because I wasn't clear in terms of what you were asking to be actually added to rate base for the test year.  So now I understand it is what you originally filed for these projects, despite the fact that these projects have increased costs relative to what you filed before.

MR. Rose:  Yeah, and again, that is because the increases and the timing changes haven't pierced our materiality threshold.

MS. GIRVAN:  It's pretty close, right?

MR. BARRETT:  It's close.

MR. BATTISTA:  Just so that I don't revisit this whole undertaking, what should be in it, maybe if you start with 2012 or whatever the first year is for these campus or infrastructure projects, by project.  So for 2012 you spent dollars, '13.  '14 would be your forecast, '15 your forecast, '16 your forecast, '17 and maybe even '18.  You'll add up all those numbers for all the years and you'll get the total.

MS. GIRVAN:  That is what I am looking for.

MR. BATTISTA:  I think is what people are looking for.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.

MR. ROSE:  I think that's doable.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah, you can likely pull that from your business cases, right? 

MR. MILLAR:  So this is Undertaking JT3.5?  It's just a new description of that undertaking?

MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah.  It's a more complete –-

MR. BARRETT:  We will roll it in.

MR. ROSE:  We will roll it in.

MR. KEIZER:  I don't know whether we applied any caveats to that, but if we did, we will apply the same caveats.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  But just to be clear with respect to -- just one final question, Andrew.  To be clear with respect to the originally filed amounts for this set of projects, you are seeking inclusion of that into the test period rate base for '14 and '15.

MR. BARRETT:  These two numbers, the 18.7 and 209.4.



MS. GIRVAN:  This is the stage where the Board considers the prudence of those amounts?

MR. BARRETT:  As it does whenever it includes any amount in rate base.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thanks.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Ms. Girvan.  Mr. Crocker?
Questions by Mr. Crocker:


MR. CROCKER:  Thanks.  My name is David Crocker.  I am counsel to the Association of Major Power Consumers in Ontario.

I would like to ask you a couple of questions on the Darlington refurbishment project update, so it's D2, tab 2, schedule 2.  And at page 2 at line 18 you say:

"Namely, its approach incorporated the seven principles set out in the Long-Term Energy Plan."

And then you say:

"OPG has also incorporated off-ramps into its contracts that limit OPG's and ratepayers' financial exposure should the decision be made not to continue the Darlington refurbishment project after the first unit is refurbished."

I assume the second thought in those two sentences isn't particularly connected to the first?  That is, the off-ramp has nothing to do with the Long-Term Energy Plan compliance?

MR. REINER:  It aligns with the Long-Term Energy Plan, because the Long-Term Energy Plan states that our shareholder wants to assess the success of the project after the first unit is returned to service, to see if it will continue.  Without those off-ramps, there would be potential financial liabilities associated with discontinuing.

MR. CROKER:  So they are connected.  I was wrong.  So that's fine.

I generally understand what off-ramps are and what they mean.  What do you mean by "off-ramps" here?

MR. REINER:  The off-ramps here essentially mean that we have provisions in the contracts that allow us to terminate, and that don't -- other than, largely, the sort of true-ups for dollars incurred don't introduce other financial liabilities.

MR. CROCKER:  So they are unconditional? 

MR. REINER:  They are unconditional.  There are termination for convenience clauses that are purely within the powers of OPG to exercise.

MR. CROCKER:  And I assume that there aren't similar off-ramps before the first unit gets started?

MR. REINER:  They are there, actually, throughout the definition phase as well, yes.  Those same provisions are in place today.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And once, again, they are unconditional rights? 

MR. REINER:  They are unconditional, with the exception being, as I said, if there are true-ups that need to be made.  If the contractors have procured materials, for example, on our behalf, we would have to true those up.  And if there are wind-down costs that are incurred by the contractor, we would have to the pay for those wind-down costs.

MR. CROCKER:  Could you turn to page 5, please, of the same document?  I want to see whether I understand something that Mr. Elson got involved with fully.

The numbers that he -- I am at line 6, when you talk about the increases of 200 to 300 million.  When you gave numbers to Mr. Elson when he asked you what the -- I think he asked you what the original costs of the project would be and what the increases would be from that.

Were you talking about 2013 business plan numbers?  Are those the same numbers as Mr. Elson, in your understanding, as Elson was asking about? 

MR. REINER:  Yes, that was in reference to 2013 numbers.

MR. CROCKER:  And does his undertaking include giving the $10 billion number, including capitalized interest and inflation? 

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, David, are you referring to the undertaking that's outstanding?

MR. CROCKER:  Yes, yes.

MR. KEIZER:  Or the one that was already given at the last technical conference?

MR. CROCKER:  No, I think the one that is outstanding, that Mr. Elson is going send you via e-mail a blank chart.  I wondered -- I just wondered -- I couldn't remember whether it included -- I thought it did, but I wasn't sure -- what the 10 billion is, including capitalized interest and inflation.

MR. KEIZER:  To be honest with you, I wasn't quite certain about what Mr. Elson's undertaking was.  And I was expecting to have greater clarity when he sent me the table.

MR. REINER:  Just for clarification, the 10 billion here does not include capitalized interest and escalation.

MR. CROCKER:  I understand that.  I wondered what the amount would be including those factors.

MR. REINER:  So 10 billion in 2013 dollars translates to 12.9 billion, including capitalized interest and escalation.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  That's fine.  That's easy.

Could we go to, please, the third quarter 2013 initial project assessment report?  I think it's Exhibit 1 to the June 26th, 2014 report.  And could we go to page 17 of that, please? 

The fourth bullet, about a third of the way down the page you say:

"OPG decided to shift the OPS and maintenance costs for each unit's operators to the Darlington refurbishment project while under refurbishment, which further added to the overhead costs."

Why was that decision made, and is it -- does it make any sense?

MR. REINER:  So we made a decision that as part of the refurbishment the work that needs to be executed to maintain the equipment that's not being touched through refurbishment would all get managed through the refurbishment organization.  It would get managed under a single work control authority and under a single schedule, and therefore we made the decision to also move the resources that would execute that work to refurbishment for that time period and therefore the costs as well.  So that's what is in here.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  That is what that means.

MR. REINER:  That is what that means.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And so when you mean shift the resources you mean people resources?

MR. REINER:  People resources, yes, so we'd essentially -- so during the period that one unit is shut down for refurbishment we would essentially have, call it a quarter of the operations and maintenance staff allocated to the project, and those resources would be executing the work that would normally need to be done as part of normal station maintenance, but on the refurbishment unit.

MR. CROCKER:  And are those costs now Darlington refurbishment costs?

MR. REINER:  Those are included in our $10 billion Darlington refurbishment cost.  These costs are included in that.

MR. CROCKER:  The footnoted reports on that page, footnote 12, 13, and 14, have they been previously filed in other proceedings or in this one?

MR. REINER:  I don't know that offhand.

MR. ROSE:  I know that the 2009 one, which would be -- the reference appears to be to our business case -- would have been filed in the 2009 -- would have been in the last rate hearing.

MR. CROCKER:  I thought it probably had.  Can I have an undertaking for you to provide me -- us, I guess, therefore, the other two reports or to indicate where I can access them?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, are you talking about the report for submission to the nuclear generation projects committee, one in November of 2008 and November of 2009?

MR. CROCKER:  No.

MR. KEIZER:  Is that what you're referring --

MR. CROCKER:  Footnote 12, yes, 2008.  Mr. Rose told me where I can find 13.  And footnote 14, the update on Darlington refurbishment project, March 5, 2010, those two.

MR. KEIZER:  I don't know if they -- are they public documents?  Are they something in OPG's control or...

MR. REINER:  These are board reports.  They are not -- they wouldn't be public documents.

MR. KEIZER:  I guess I am trying to understand, David, what is the basis for producing them here at this point in time five years after or four years after they were produced.


MR. CROCKER:  I think the purpose is to fill out a -- to get a broader understanding of the intentions of the board with respect to the project going forward.

MR. KEIZER:  Back in 2008.

MR. CROCKER:  Well, that's -- it was thought of at that point that early on.

Why don't you do this, Mr. Keizer:  If they are available and easily produced and you don't see any reason why they can't be produced, could you please do produce them, and if they aren't available for whatever reason, please let us know?

MR. KEIZER:  That's fine.

MR. MILLAR:  JT3.17.

MR. CROCKER:  Thanks.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT3.17:  TO PROVIDE THE OTHER TWO REPORTS OR TO INDICATE WHERE THEY CAN BE ACCESSED; or if they are not available, to explain why they are not available.


MR. CROCKER:  Over the page on page 18, I am going to ask you a question --

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, just to make sure that we have got the numbering right, Mr. Anderson is saying that this should be 3.18 rather than 3.17.

MR. MILLAR:  What is 3.17 then?  I thought we were simply amending JT3.5, beforehand.

MR. ANDERSON:  I actually thought Mr. Poch had a request that was JT3.17.  It was to do with how much was going to be --

MR. KEIZER:  Oh, you know what?  I think we had not yet come back and responded to Mr. Poch on that issue yet.  Maybe that is why it hasn't yet been marked.

MR. POCH:  I was going to -- I didn't want to interrupt, because -- let's just reserve that number for -- before we leave today we will describe it.

MR. KEIZER:  Perfect.  Okay.

MR. POCH:  That's fine.

MR. MILLAR:  So yours is 3. -- JT3.17?

MR. POCH:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And then this new one from Mr. Crocker that we just discussed is JT3.18.  
UNDERTAKING NO. JT3.18:  TO BE DETERMINED 

MR. CROCKER:  Over the page at page 18 of that report, I am going to ask you a question which I don't think will require you to deal with the redacted numbers at the first bullet point.  If you feel you need to, we will reserve the further discussion to the in camera session.

You say:

"Operation support group by a redacted number or another redacted number based on required human-resource profile considerations, all as prepared by operations and maintenance organization."

Can you explain why that growth was necessary?  Why it took place?

MR. ROSE:  Just generally speaking, in the 2009 estimate there was an assumption that the refurbishment would be done using a construction island concept.  Operators would basically turn over the plant to the refurbishment project, and therefore we did not elaborate on the number of ops and maintenance staff from the station that would be included in our estimate.  We had certain ops and maintenance staff that were there to support isolation and perimetry of the unit and to do certain cyclical work, but we didn't carry the staff to maintain the unit while it was in the refurbishment's control.

In the later estimate we -- that assumption was changed, and there was a decision that we needed to carry in the base cost of the project all of the costs associated with the work that was going to be done while the unit was in our control, including the ops and maintenance work that would be generally done on an ongoing basis.

MR. CROCKER:  Have there been any attempts subsequent to 2012 to reduce that growth to bring it back to more reasonable numbers?

MR. ROSE:  There are attempts on a constant basis in our prior release and in our latest release to make sure that we have the right estimate for that work for the refurbishment project, and as we do with every cost component of the estimate we do challenge it.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  The second-last bullet on the page, you say:

"Campus plan costs decreased by two redacted numbers due to improved scope clarity."

I assume that that statement no longer means a great deal, in light of the increased costs for those campus costs.

MR. ROSE:  So interestingly enough, in 2009 we carried an estimate for the facility and infrastructure projects in 2000 and -- in the original business case.  In 2011 and '12, as we understood the needs of the campus plan and managed that portfolio of cost, we shed some facilities and through our early estimates we got some lower estimates than we had originally planned; i.e., D2O.

Now, with the understanding of what those cost estimates truly are, our numbers that were kind of alluded to today are fairly close to what we had on our plan in 2009.  So we saw, you know, in essence a $700-million portfolio drop down to 500, as we talked earlier, to go back up to that same range, and so what's happened is we have made some tradeoffs along the way, we have got some projects that come in at a lower cost, we've got some projects that are obviously coming in at a higher cost, at the -- and if you look at individual projects you see that spikes, but if you look at the portfolio as a whole and see how we are trying to manage the portfolio and looking for opportunities to reduce costs in other projects when certain projects go up.  That's the view and the approach that we have taken.

MR. CROCKER:  Is that discussion more fully seen in the report which you have footnoted at Exhibit 17 on that page?

MR. ROSE:  That, at that point, just provides an analysis of plan over plan, and a variance analysis that basically looks at all the components in 2009 and what they were in -- at the later date in 2012.  That would also be included in our business case submissions that we have already made that are in evidence, so...

MR. CROCKER:  That full report?

MR. ROSE:  Not that report specifically, but the variance analysis that we would put into our -- that are included in our D2-2-1, attachment 5, the business case would have a similar business variance analysis.

MR. CROCKER:  Is it possible to produce that report, please? 

MR. ROSE:  There will be parts of that report which will get into the point estimates at the contract level, that we would -- we would have to evaluate whether or not there would be enough information provided to make it worthwhile.

MR. KEIZER:  So in other words, it might be so overly redacted that it, for a public record basis, may not be useful, but we could do it on a redacted basis.

MR. ROSE:  That's correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Well, we have signed the undertaking so that we could see the unredacted report, but why don't -- let's start with the redacted one and see if it's of any value.  And if it isn't, then perhaps we can make a request at some point after seeing it, to look at the other one.

MR. REINER:  The business case that's submitted as part of D2-2-1, attachment 5, that contains a table with cost breakdowns.  And it shows the -- from 2009 to 2013, the year-over-year changes.  So it redacted, but if you have access to that, you will see -- I think you will see what you are looking for in that table.

MR. CROCKER:  All right.  I will accept that for now.  Thank you. 

If we can go to page 20 of the same attachment, please, there has been a significant discussion of scope.  And I often wonder exactly what we're talking about when we talk about scope; it seems sometimes to change depending on what we are talking about.

And about halfway down the page the heading is:  "Scope status as of the 2013 business plan." 

And are you saying there simply that this is the -- this is a description of the plan in 2013?  Is that what you are saying under that heading? 

MR. GOULD:  Yes, that as of the time of this report that was the status.  It was still under review by the blue-ribbon panel that Mr. Rose spoke of earlier.

MR. CROCKER:  And was there a 2012 scope review business plan? 

MR. GOULD:  I will let Mr. Rose answer that.

MR. ROSE:  There would have been included in our 2009 estimates and any subsequent estimate that we provided, an assumption of certain scope.  Obviously, in 2010, 2011 and into 2012 we, through our program scope review board, vetted and started to understand in a lot more level of definition what our scopes are.  Right?

So the DSRs that you see here, it says "number of DSRs" on the table, that stands for Darlington scope requests.  Through that period, Darlington scope requests were completed -- were identified as outputs of our early feasibility studies, component condition studies and et cetera going on.

It was in 2012 that we really said we have got the whole -- we understand the whole scope from a -- you know, a general starting point.

MR. CROCKER:  That is why I was asking for it.  I understand that the scope was -- significantly grew or had grown by that point? 

MR. REINER:  Maybe I could jump in.

So in the definition phase of the Darlington refurbishment -- so that is what we are largely talking about here in terms of scope -- there is a process that gets us from an early identification of scope which may start as -- there is a safety-related gap that needs to be addressed on a shut-down system, so that gets identified, and some very preliminary dollars get put against that.

Then that process, as we move through definition phase, year over year, we refine that to the point where we do engineering analysis, we go in the field, we look at the equipment, we talk to CNSC, we try to understand precisely what components need to be replaced, what modifications need to be made.  And as that work progresses we refine the estimates.

So there aren't these snapshots in time, where this is what the scope was in 2012 and now it is this; it's an evolution of definition of scope, that is leading us to the release quality estimate.

By the release quality estimate we will know, at the component level, for the majority of the systems -- there may be some that because we can't access those parts of the plant because they are in -- they require a de-fuelled state to actually go in and see the condition of a component.  There are some valves like that, for example.  We will know at release quality estimate on a component-by-component basis what we have to go in and replace and what we have to go in and install.

And so that is what happens with scope with the DSRs as we go.  There would have been a certain progression of work in 2009.  Our estimate for that would have been part of that "2009" column in that business case, that breakdown.  But as the engineering progresses and as our understanding of the components progresses -- and part of that includes inspection work that we do in the field.  So I will give you another example.

We will have had in scope in 2009 something that said:  Replace any faulty control cabling in the power plant.  It's a valid scope item.  We now need to go in and see, well, how much of that cabling is faulty and needs to be replaced.  So between 2009 and the release quality estimate, every maintenance outage that the station takes, we send people in and we look at cables and we do tests on insulation to see if it's still sound.

And on the results of that work, we then determine a more precise level of scope.  We get to a point where, in the cabling example, the following cables must be replaced; the rest of the cables don't need to be touched.

So that is what you sort of see as scope progresses through time, and that will continue on to 2015 to the release quality estimate.

MR. CROCKER:  And does that sort of more detailed analysis as you go forward cause the scope to move in any one direction?  Does it narrow?  Does it widen? 

MR. REINER:  It will do combinations of both.  It narrows in some cases.  It widens in other cases, depending on what we find.  And we have seen examples of both.

But what you start to see is where we would have carried dollars in contingency to account for the potential of having to do the work, as we understand whether the work needs to be done or not, those dollars either materialize as real dollars in the estimate, in which case they are removed from contingency, or the work doesn't need to be done, in which case the dollars drop.  So you will see movements go in both directions.

MR. CROCKER:  All right.  In light of that comment -- and I am going to have two follow-up questions.

If you could turn over the page to the second-last paragraph on page 21, the Modus report says:

"The challenge for the DR team now is to weed out the work scope that is not essentially done in refurbishment and ultimately define scope that is balanced..."

Et cetera, et cetera.  And then there is a discussion of the narrowing and the value of narrowing, et cetera.

When you do this analysis, what factors do you take into consideration when you determine what has to be done and what doesn't have to be done, what's in scope and what's not in scope?

And I was going to ask you a specific question about the blue-ribbon panel comment on scope.  I don't have to take you to it; you have already been asked about it, I think, twice.

In light of that sort of technical analysis you do, how does a comment from senior people called blue-ribbon people saying you've got to take -- you have to rescope or you have to reconsider your scope.  How does that kind of comment factor into what you really do?

MR. REINER:  So when we established the scoping process, one of our key inputs was lessons learned on Pickering return to service and the Bruce Power and Point Lepreau refurbishments, and what was -- and the lesson was that when those units were being worked on scope emerged during the execution of the refurbishment work that wasn't anticipated, a lot of unforeseen scope emerged, so we took an approach of, let's analyze every potential source of scope that could impact the refurbishment of Darlington.

So we looked at, for example, we looked at maintenance backlogs.  We went to the maintenance departments.  We asked them for their backlogs, went through the backlogs to identify what work having -- you know, is backlogged, hasn't been executed on equipment.  Let's identify that.  We looked at engineering backlogs, where modifications were intended to be implemented, or there were potential regulatory -- historic regulatory requirements that required modifications to be implemented.  We captured all of those.

So the comment about casting the broad net was exactly that.  We looked at every source of scope.

Then -- now, the downside with that is that you start out with a much bigger bucket of work than what you really need to do to refurbish the power plant.

The upside of it is the reason we did that is we don't want surprises when we are executing the work, so that's allowed us to identify everything that needs to be done.

What we then asked the blue-ribbon team to do is what work can be done outside of refurbishment in a normal maintenance outage or online while the units are running, take a scrub of that, and we are going to make sure that that work is identified in the maintenance programs, it's identified in the online work programs, and it's captured, and it's taken out of refurb so that our scope really stays true to what the core refurbishment work is, the work that needs to be done when the unit is shut down and de-fuelled and de-watered and the work that needs to be done to safely restart it and operate it for another 25 to 30 years.

So that's the process that led to, you know, having a larger view of scope and then refining it down, and in that process nothing falls through the cracks.  There isn't going to be a surprise, because all of the work has been looked at, and it's been earmarked, and it's documented in the Darlington scope request.  Some of these scope requests are now owned by Darlington maintenance or by the nuclear project portfolio to execute it.  They are tracked.  They are all there, and we really minimize the surprises.  The only surprises we will have left is potentially areas where we haven't had an ability to actually look at the condition of the plant because we can't access it during normal operations.

MR. CROCKER:  What happens to the costs of those various elements?  How are they allocated?  The costs that at one point increased and then costs which I would expect decrease because you have allocated them to other groups and other projects.

MR. REINER:  Yeah, and the costs -- so when we do our updates of the cost estimate, which we currently do on an annual basis, when the update is done it's reflective of the scope as we understand it at that point in time.

So there would have been a point in time prior to the blue-ribbon results where the cost of that work would have been included in the refurbishment estimate.

Post making the decision to remove that scope, the cost of refurbishment was decreased by that amount.  So the costs are also tracked.

To the extent that we have estimates for that work, in some cases they are conceptual estimates, in some cases they are quite precise, because we know the details of the work, but the costs follow the work, and they get allocated to the appropriate -- you know, either -- it either comes out of station OM&A and it needs to be captured as part of their maintenance work or it's part of the project portfolio that nuclear runs or it's in refurbishment, but it gets apportioned out.

MR. CROCKER:  But it doesn't result in your changing your $10 billion or whatever the appropriate number is estimate?

MR. ROSE:  So as Mr. Reiner indicates, if it's removed from the scope of the refurbishment project, our $10 billion estimate was adjusted accordingly, so our point estimate, which is within that $10 billion, is adjusted accordingly.

We talked this morning a little bit earlier about the blue-ribbon and the $179 million that was transferred out of refurb to the station.  We actually -- in our business case we took that $180 million and we spread it over the years post-refurbishment, so it is incorporated in the LUEC of the project.

So if the operations couldn't handle some of that work within their normal programs included in the BCS we included those costs, you know, as an incremental cost with an opportunity to reduce to make sure that we didn't lose track of it.

So our LUEC, which includes the post-refurbishment cost, includes the $180 million that was removed out of the blue-ribbon -- removed out of the project.

MR. REINER:  Just to go back to your question on the 10 billion, so in 2009 our high-confidence cost estimate -- our bounding estimate was 10 billion.  That equates to 10.8, I believe it is, or 10.9 in 2013 dollars.  We have reduced the estimate by that 800 million to 2013.  So the upper bound has come down.  Now, it's still 10 billion, but there is nearly a billion dollars of costs that has been removed.

MR. CROCKER:  I understand.

I was going to indicate to Mr. Millar that it's 4:30, and I would really like to get downtown for my five o'clock meeting, and I've got a bunch more to do.

MS. BINETTE:  So do you want to resume tomorrow morning, Mr. Crocker?

MR. CROCKER:  I would like to, if that's okay.

MS. BINETTE:  And Ms. Blanchard, are you all right with tomorrow morning?

MS. BLANCHARD:  Yes.

MS. BINETTE:  So we have -- and Board Staff has some questions as well.  So in terms of tomorrow morning then, we would have Mr. Crocker, Ms. Blanchard, and Mr. Battista on air for perhaps about an hour, I think, total -- okay.  So then perhaps less than an hour, and then we would proceed to an in camera session.  My count is about 140 minutes, so about two hours of in camera, potentially.

MR. KEIZER:  That's more than we had previously on your previous estimate, so that's gone up, or is it...

MS. BINETTE:  It has gone up, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  I think we will be more than an hour, by the way --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Your witnesses are more interesting than we expected.

MR. CROCKER:  I think we will be on air more than an hour as well, but we still won't have any trouble finishing tomorrow.

MS. BINETTE:  That was my expectation as well, so we will start again tomorrow at 9:30, and I am hoping we get some clarification on JT3.17?

MR. POCH:  We will deal with it.

MR. KEIZER:  So off air?

MS. BINETTE:  That would be fine.  Okay.  Thank you very much.

--- Whereupon proceedings adjourned at 4:29 p.m.
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